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          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: This is the

          3  Parks and Recreation Hearing, oversight hearing on

          4  the Park Enforcement Police. Hi, my name is Joe

          5  Addabbo, I chair the Committee. Today we're holding

          6  a hearing on the effectiveness of the Park

          7  Enforcement Police (PEP).

          8                 Towards the end of last year, and in

          9  the beginning of 2003, there were several incidents

         10  that occurred in parks that prompted this Committee

         11  to analyze the way in which information is shared

         12  between the NYPD and the Department of Parks.

         13                 The Police Department computerized

         14  crime tracking process, the COMPSTAT, analyzes

         15  patterns of crime by precinct. Crimes that occur in

         16  parks are included in precinct data, but the Police

         17  Department, to my knowledge, does not track crime

         18  specifically on parks.  The only park, which would

         19  be Central Park, has obviously a precinct dedicated

         20  to the actual park.

         21                 There are many parks though, that

         22  have a number of precincts within its boundaries.

         23  Specifically, Forest Park has, within its borders,

         24  the 102, the 104, the 112 and the 75 Precinct, and

         25  actually has three boroughs -- patrol boroughs,
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          2  Queens North, Queens South, and Brooklyn North.

          3  Flushing Meadows- Corona Park is covered by the 107,

          4  the 110, and the 112.  Prospect Park, the 70th, the

          5  71, 77 and the 78 Precincts.  Riverside Park, the

          6  20, the 24 and 26 Precincts.  Bronx Park, 49th -- 49

          7  and the 52 Precincts, and Van Cortland is covered by

          8  the 47 and 50.  So, we are seeing that there are

          9  many parks which have multiple police precincts

         10  within their boundaries.

         11                 The Committee on Parks and Recreation

         12  has invited representatives from the Bloomberg

         13  Administration and I welcome Commissioner Benepe

         14  here, once again.  As always, DC37 and park advocacy

         15  groups, to discuss the current avenues of

         16  communication between the Police Department and the

         17  Department of Parks and Recreation, as well as to

         18  discuss better ways information can be gathered to

         19  help analyze crime in our parks.

         20                 We understand parks are safe.

         21  They're probably the safest ever in the history of

         22  the City during the Summer months, but we always

         23  feel that there could be a better dialogue between

         24  the Parks Department and the Police Department at

         25  this time.
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          2                 I would also like to acknowledge that

          3  the Manhattan Delegation of the City Council is up

          4  in Albany today, with speaker, so we are missing

          5  those colleagues of mine who are from the Manhattan

          6  Delegation, but I would like to welcome those

          7  Council Members who are here, Council Member Eric

          8  Dilan and Chair of the Public Safety Committee,

          9  Council Member Peter Vallone, and I would ask

         10  Council Member Vallone if he would have any

         11  statements to make at this time.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Thank you

         13  Mr. Chair, it's my honor and pleasure today to be

         14  working with the Parks Committee and Chairman

         15  Addabbo, especially having Astoria Park in my

         16  district, where I probably spent too much time as a

         17  youth, and we are very concerned about the goings on

         18  there, but I commend you Mr. Addabbo and your entire

         19  Committee on this subject matter and your efforts to

         20  now clarify the park statistics, and therefore,

         21  enhance our capability of combatting crime in the

         22  parks, so, look forward to working with you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Council Member

         24  Vallone thank you very much for being here and for

         25  your Committee's help as well. Thank you very much.
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          2  I also want to thank our staff for the Committee,

          3  Tom Curry to my right, legal counsel, Frank Neely,

          4  and Chima Obichere for helping us out, and I'll

          5  thank ahead of time the Sergeant of Arms for making

          6  sure there's peace and order at this hearing, it

          7  could get a little crazy.

          8                 At this point, I'd like to welcome

          9  the Commissioner for the Department of Parks and

         10  Recreation, Commissioner Benepe. Commissioner, good

         11  to see you once again.

         12                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Chairman

         13  Addabbo, other Committee Members, Council Member

         14  Vallone, Council Member Dilan. Pleasure to be here

         15  again.  Seems like just yesterday I was before this

         16  body.  My pleasure to be here to testify about parks

         17  and public safety issues.

         18                 Joining me here today are Kevin

         19  Jeffrey, who is our Deputy Commissioner for Public

         20  Programs, which includes, among other things, the

         21  Urban Park Service, which is the PEP, the Rangers,

         22  and Communications.  He also has Recreation

         23  Partnerships for Parks, and a number of other

         24  important City- wide programs. Also here is Liam

         25  Cavanaugh, our Deputy Commissioner for Operations,
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          2  the five borough Commissioners report to

          3  Commissioner Cavanaugh, and they have the primary

          4  liaison with the Borough Command for the NYPD.  Also

          5  joining us is Assistant Commissioner Jack Linn,

          6  Assistant Commissioner for City- wide Services --

          7  that includes the PEP and Rangers, and so on.

          8                 The role of parks as safe havens for

          9  people has been sort of a hallmark of what parks and

         10  recreation is and does, and has been for 150 years.

         11  Particularly, in these days of economic stress and

         12  stress about global issues, and various worries,

         13  parks need to complete -- continue to play the role

         14  of what some people have described as secular

         15  churches, places to go to find solace in the company

         16  of other New Yorkers and also the solace in nature.

         17  So, it's very important for parks to feel better and

         18  be safer and be nicer.

         19                 Keeping the parks inviting requires

         20  more than making them clean or well- programmed.

         21  People must be safe in them and must feel safe in

         22  them, and overwhelmingly they do so.  They're voting

         23  with their feet and coming out to their parks in

         24  greater numbers than ever before.  We do not

         25  establish the safety and quality of life in our
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          2  parks alone, far from it.

          3                 Keeping the parks safe requires

          4  community involvement, and particularly, the efforts

          5  of the New York Police Department and our small core

          6  of PEP Officers and Urban Park Rangers.  I should

          7  say that thanks to the work of the NYPD, New York

          8  City has experienced a dramatic drop in crime over

          9  the last ten years, and I should say dramatic and

         10  sustained -- it is -- continues to go down, even as

         11  it goes up in other major cities around the Country.

         12    I think we should remind ourselves of this fact

         13  and feel very good about the work the Police

         14  Department is doing.

         15                 New Yorkers now are safer and feel

         16  safer in their homes, on the streets and our parks,

         17  than they have been in quite some time.  But we

         18  can't fool ourselves, there is no such thing as

         19  completely safe, and New Yorkers have to continue to

         20  think and act intelligently when they're out and

         21  about, especially at night.  Our preliminary

         22  research shows there has been no increase in crime

         23  in parks, nor is there a wide- spread problem.

         24                 Central Park is our best measured

         25  example, for a couple of reasons, one, this is the
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          2  busiest park in the City, it has over 25 million

          3  visitors each year.  It also has the lowest crime

          4  rate in the City of all the precincts.  In 2003, to

          5  date, there have been only ten crimes committed,

          6  that is of the measurably crimes.  Since 1993, crime

          7  in Central Park has decreased by 72 percent,

          8  compared to a City- wide drop of 64 percent.  Crime

          9  in parks has also declined across the board.  We did

         10  a little bit of research, looking at Norther

         11  Manhattan, Manhattan North Command, which is 96th

         12  Street and above, so it includes East, Central and

         13  West Harlem, Washington Heights, Inwood, and so on.

         14  Through COMPSTAT, which tracks where crimes takes

         15  place, we learned that in 2002 there were 172 crimes

         16  committed in parks in Manhattan North.

         17                 Now I should clarify that parks

         18  includes not just City Parks, but also State Parks

         19  and housing authority playgrounds. There's parks

         20  that are not under our jurisdiction. So, we have

         21  more than -- we have about 250 park parcels in

         22  Manhattan North, and in other words, just in our

         23  parks alone, if you go by the COMPSTAT statistics,

         24  it's less than one serious crime per year, per park.

         25  Of course, that's a mathematical extrapolation,
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          2  probably more crimes occur in certain parks and less

          3  in others, but it's a level of crime that is

          4  scarcely measurable, and it is our contention that

          5  most crimes, in fact, take place on the streets and

          6  in the homes, and not in the parks.

          7                 Maintaining safe parks and

          8  playgrounds remains our top priority.  It is

          9  certainly a joint effort with Police Departments,

         10  and to a much lesser extent, our PEP Officers and

         11  our Park Rangers, but also, all of our park workers.

         12    We work very closely with the Police Departments

         13  on special events, seasonal issues and general park

         14  safety.  The Police Department provides -- is the

         15  primary provider of security and crowd control at

         16  all major events.  Each season we meet with the

         17  department to discuss every special event occurring

         18  on park lands, so that the police are prepared in

         19  advance.

         20                 In addition to the events that we

         21  know about in advance, we also meet and discuss, on

         22  a daily basis, events, rallies, protests, parades

         23  that require additional perform -- enforcements.  We

         24  also work quite cooperatively with the police during

         25  the Summer months, when they have units specially
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          2  detailed to patrolling the 14 miles of beach and at

          3  our 53 outdoor pools. Police details provide

          4  increased safety at some of our most popular

          5  recreational facilities, and the number of assaults,

          6  the assaults which used to take place in pools have

          7  been virtually eliminated, with some small

          8  exceptions.  But, perhaps, one of the safest places

          9  you can go on a Summer afternoon, a hot Summer

         10  afternoon, is one of our pools, because of the

         11  constant and consistent presence of police and PEP

         12  Officers.

         13                 We regularly confer with all police

         14  captains who have parks within their precincts, and

         15  I should add that the meetings takes place really on

         16  three levels, well, four.

         17                 I discuss park safety issues with

         18  Commissioner Kelly, our borough commissioners are on

         19  the -- have a good and well established rapport with

         20  the borough commands, north and south, and et

         21  cetera.  Our managers, each sector managers knows

         22  and works with the precinct commanders, and then

         23  park supervisors and park workers will get to know

         24  specific police officers, particularly, those which

         25  have special beats in parks.
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          2                 Many of the parks have special

          3  details, particularly in the Summer, such as Forest

          4  Park, Prospect Park, St. Mary's and Crotona Parks,

          5  which gets special detail patrolled by the NYPD.

          6  Public safety in parks and playgrounds is the top

          7  priority, however, we do not simply say, stay with

          8  whatever it is we were doing, we take very seriously

          9  the need to consistently and continuously evaluate

         10  and refine our methods.

         11                 Here's what we are doing now.  We are

         12  continuing to work with the NYPD to ensure that

         13  public safety as much as possible, particularly to

         14  ensure that the exchange of information between the

         15  parks and the Police Department continues.  Within

         16  the last few months, all Parks Department Sector

         17  Managers, these are the people who take care of the

         18  parks and playgrounds in each community board.  They

         19  either have one or two community boards that they

         20  oversee.

         21                 Each one of these managers has met

         22  with a commanding officer of the precinct and done a

         23  night- time tour of all the properties in the

         24  precincts.  These are to review security and quality

         25  of life issues in parks and playgrounds.  For the
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          2  most part, both the Police and the Parks Department

          3  are aware of where there are problems.  We know

          4  there are problems because when we come in the

          5  morning, we find the evidence of the previous

          6  night's partying or whatever it is that might have

          7  been going on.  However, these tours are providing

          8  our park managers and precinct commanders with

          9  first- hand knowledge of night activity in parks,

         10  provided framework for increased communication

         11  between Parks and Police Department on a local

         12  level.  We plan to repeat these tours in the Summer

         13  because the problems in the Winter are different

         14  from the problems in Summer.

         15                 During each of these tours, we

         16  provided the NYPD with a map of the parks in their

         17  precinct, with a chart listing each park, providing

         18  the locations, contact information for the manager,

         19  and specific details regarding recurring crime and

         20  quality of- life problems in those parks.  I think

         21  we have attached -- given you some maps -- that we

         22  can provide individual maps for your specific

         23  districts, if you like.  These are the computer-

         24  generated maps that we provided to the precinct

         25  commanders, that show where the parks are.
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          2                 Second, we have instructed our

          3  maintenance staff to be vigilant when securing

          4  facilities at night, especially comfort stations and

          5  park houses.  We have established, w here we lack

          6  them, night- time locking crews to double- check

          7  both comfort stations and playground gates where we

          8  have them.  In some cases, the NYPD assists us by

          9  locking playgrounds.

         10                 We also have a Park Warden Program,

         11  through which volunteers have taken on

         12  responsibility to keep parks safe by locking

         13  playgrounds at night.  With regard to our own Parks

         14  Enforcement Patrol, it's clear that creating a

         15  positive atmosphere in parks is the most successful

         16  way to combat negative behavior in parks.  It's an

         17  old saw that good use drives out bad use.  We create

         18  this atmosphere by making clean and decent parks

         19  through programming and through the presence of PEP

         20  Officers and Urban Park Rangers.

         21                 A member of the Manhattan Delegation,

         22  just back from Albany -- no? -- No, missed the --

         23  missed the bus -- we were misinformed.  Do you want

         24  to take a time out while you introduce the new

         25  members who have joined us? Sure go ahead.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  At this point I

          3  would like to welcome other colleagues who have

          4  joined us today, Council Member Gerson, Council

          5  Member Foster, Council Member Serrano and Council

          6  Member Gallagher to my left here.  Thank you, fellow

          7  colleagues, Commissioner.

          8                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Thank you, time

          9  out for a water break.  The PEP Officers, PEP again

         10  is the Park Enforcement Patrol, not to be confused

         11  with POP, which is the Parks Opportunity Program, or

         12  PIP, which is the Park Inspection Program.  We have

         13  PIP, PEP and POP in the park.  We're obsessed with

         14  P's -- alliteration is our name.  PIP, PEP and POP.

         15  PEP Officers and rangers are special patrolman, they

         16  have special patrolman status, that means they have

         17  the ability to issues summonses and make arrests.

         18  They do not carry firearms.  They carry some -- or

         19  can carry self- defense weapons, like a baton and

         20  spray and so on.  They are committed to improving

         21  the atmosphere in parks.  They do so in different

         22  ways.

         23                 Park Rangers focus primarily on

         24  educating park patrons and interpreting the

         25  environments, while PEP Officers address the quality
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          2  of life in our parks.  Considering their limited

          3  numbers, and by limited, we have fewer PEP Officers

          4  patrolling City- wide, perhaps half as many as the

          5  average precinct. So, to cover our 28,000 acres of

          6  parks, we have about 72 deployable officers.  There

          7  are approximately 160 PEP Officers, but only 72 of

          8  them are deployable, I'll explain that later.

          9  Therefore, we use them very much like a SWAT team,

         10  they -- there are very few regular patrols -- we

         11  move them around as we discern problems.  We're

         12  constantly examining and modifying where officers

         13  are needed.

         14                 For the most part, there are 40

         15  officers on mobile patrols in medium and larger

         16  parks, focusing on areas where problems are

         17  identified.  The balance of the PEP Officers are

         18  funded by other groups, non- profits and

         19  governmental groups, such as the Hudson River Park

         20  Trust, Battery Park City Authority are two of those

         21  groups.  Also, recreation centers that are funded

         22  through community development block grants have

         23  dedicated PEP Officers there.  I explain that to say

         24  that these officers cannot leave their patrol areas

         25  because they're paid for through a restricted,
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          2  dedicated source, to be in those areas.  In essence,

          3  we are providing -- we're a contractor providing

          4  services to those parks and park locations.

          5                 The primary responsibility of the New

          6  York City Police Department is to enforce laws and

          7  concentrate on serious crime.  That doesn't mean

          8  that we don't want the NYPD to enforce quality of

          9  life laws or Parks' Rules and Regulations.  They

         10  can, and they do enforce those Rules and

         11  Regulations, and we work with them to see that they

         12  do.

         13                 However, given the current realities

         14  of the concentration on terrorism prevention and the

         15  concentration on maintaining the reduction in

         16  serious crimes, we, the Parks Department, have to

         17  spend most of our attention on those quality of life

         18  issues.  That doesn't mean that the Police

         19  Department isn't doing it, and we expect them to

         20  continue to do it, they do it quite a bit.  But this

         21  is where our PEP Officers come in.  The peace

         22  officers are primarily responsible for enforcing

         23  quality of life laws and the New York City

         24  Administrative Code.  Our Parks' Rules and

         25  Regulations provide crowd control, they provide
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          2  crowd control, they act as park ambassadors, they're

          3  trained to ensure that park patrons are peacefully

          4  enjoying the park.  Now without PEP Officers and

          5  Park Rangers to enforce Park Rules and Regulations,

          6  the park experience would deteriorate.

          7                 Every day, they settle disputes over

          8  such things as ball field permits, they prevent

          9  skateboarding in restricted areas, they stop

         10  speeding bicycles in pedestrian walks, they prevent

         11  people from walking their dogs on leash where

         12  they're not supposed to be, they keep adults out of

         13  children's playgrounds when they shouldn't be in

         14  there.  Without this presence, there would be a

         15  negative impact on the park experience.

         16                 In addition to promoting the

         17  properties of parks, PEP Officers and Rangers issue

         18  summonses for health, traffic and sanitation code

         19  violations.  Each year, PEP Officers and Rangers

         20  issue an average of 6,000 summonses for ECB

         21  violations, including unleashed dogs, illegal

         22  vending, arborcide, illegal posting, alcohol

         23  possession, and so on.  So, that's the -- in some

         24  ways, the first line of defense on quality- of- life

         25  issues.

                                                            19

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 Now, in addition to the enforcement

          3  role, Rangers are the uniformed stewards of the

          4  City's parks, they work with community and volunteer

          5  groups, educating the public about the City's parks,

          6  and I should point out that both Commissioner

          7  Jeffrey and I started as Park Rangers in 1979.  That

          8  is, we were out there in uniform in our Smokey the

          9  Bear hats, we were the first ones, there were no PEP

         10  Officers in those days, we were the first ones to

         11  enforce Park Rules and Regulations, and try to re-

         12  establish in parks that had become badly out of

         13  control, that there is a sense of public decorum in

         14  order.  We're -- both Kevin and I are very proud of

         15  our backgrounds.

         16                 One Ranger initiative is the "Natural

         17  Classroom," it's designed to link young New Yorkers

         18  in grades K through eight to the natural world.  It

         19  is in cooperation with the National Geographic

         20  Society, where we use our New York's parks as living

         21  laboratories and use the City's urban ecology to

         22  teach about botany, geology, biology, ornithologies

         23  and lots of other ologies. When the outdoor lesson

         24  ends, we offer supplemental education material that

         25  allows teachers to bring the outdoor experience back
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          2  into the classroom.  Our "Natural Classroom" program

          3  helps students achieve standards in science, math

          4  and English, and last year, we reached more than

          5  50,000 children City- wide through this program,

          6  most of them public school kids.  These are like

          7  civic lessons in parks.

          8                 Children who take part in "Natural

          9  Classroom" are more likely to be good stewards and

         10  patrons of New York's open space, having learned how

         11  exciting and valuable and fragile the parks are.

         12  So, that's what we mean when we say we need to bring

         13  positive programming to open spaces, increase

         14  community involvement with a uniformed presence, and

         15  that's what makes a good park.                    Now

         16  , this Saturday, I will join 150 other stalwart

         17  soles in canoeing down the Bronx River.  Council

         18  Member Serrano is a stalwart canoer.  I believe,

         19  didn't we do that last year?  Not you, okay.  You

         20  coming, Saturday?  Well, there's room in the boat.

         21  Okay.  But we bring life jackets.

         22                 The property along New York City's

         23  only fresh water river was once a dumping ground for

         24  industrial waste and garbage and a place, that was

         25  to put it mildly, not inviting.  Through community
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          2  involvement, government investment and positive

          3  activity, this area has been re- opened for public

          4  use.

          5                 It is the -- it represents a broad

          6  and wonderful new future for the Bronx, and it also

          7  exemplifies the old saw, good use drives out bad.

          8  As with the Bronx River, we have renovated and

          9  rehabilitated many parks and playgrounds, and the

         10  community has adopted these spaces.  It is these

         11  combined efforts that make parks safe and inviting

         12  and with the help of the New York Police Department

         13   -- the leadership of the Police Departments and the

         14  assistance of our Urban Park Service, we intend to

         15  keep them safe.               Thank you for bearing

         16  with us with that introductory statement, and we now

         17  I'd like to ask Commissioner Cavanaugh and

         18  Commissioner Jeffrey to join me and we'll field

         19  questions.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Thank you very

         21  much Commissioners, given the amount of acreage that

         22  you have in park land and park areas, and the

         23  limited number of PEP Officers, I got to commend you

         24  at least initially for the work that you do, and how

         25  safe our parks are, and again, we also commend the
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          2  work of the NYPD and the great work that they do.

          3                 But, having that said, I'm quite

          4  concerned, obviously, about the number of PEP

          5  Officers and their role, and obviously the way

          6  they're disbursed throughout the City.            Commissioner

          7  , in your statement, you had said that they're

          8  deployed based on need, if I'm not mistaken, can you

          9  just elaborate on how PEP Officers are placed

         10  throughout the boroughs?

         11                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  It's an art,

         12  more than a science.  You sort of look at, you know,

         13  where are the most users, you know, what are the

         14  busiest parks first.  I think that the first thing

         15  is, if you have a park which is largely empty during

         16  the weekdays, you probably wouldn't put your

         17  resources there.  You're probably going to put your

         18  resources where there are people and problems to

         19  respond to.  A lot of their time is spent on events,

         20  again, you're responding to where are the people

         21  going and what are you concentrating on.

         22                 Then, I would say the next thing is

         23  where are we getting reports of problems that we can

         24  request for service by the public that we can

         25  address.  So, given the fact that there are, again,
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          2  about 70 deployable officers City- wide, we have

          3  some rough numbers, but you know its a floating

          4  number, where we can provide exact documentation,

          5  but if you look at, for example, requests for

          6  service, the vast majority of requests for service

          7  came in Manhattan.

          8                 That makes sense because the density

          9  of population use in Manhattan, there are more

         10  people who are going to complain and say I've got a

         11  problem, you know, there's noise in the playground,

         12  there's this --.  That's where the heaviest daytime

         13  use takes place.  That's where the events, the major

         14  events are concentrated, the parades and the big

         15  concerts and the big rallies and protests and so on.

         16                 In terms of staff numbers, there are

         17  about 16 in the Bronx, 28 in Brooklyn, 50 in

         18  Manhattan, 14 in Queens, 12 in Richmond, and 35, the

         19  balance are assigned to the Battery Park City and

         20  Hudson River Park, on those contracts.  Then, we

         21  have a few -- a handful who are overseeing our

         22  transitional workers and teaching them security.

         23  These transitional workers, a lot of them work at

         24  fixed posts and recreation centers.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Do you foresee,
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          2  what is the future of the PEP Officers?  Do you

          3  foresee an expansion of the forest, you know given

          4  the budget constraints, do you see a reduction?

          5                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  We're not

          6  looking at any reduction under the current budget.

          7  I'd love to say I foresee an expansion, probably not

          8  this year.  If I have any say in the matter, we will

          9  push for an expansion.  I think it's a very valuable

         10  service, you get excellent value for the money

         11  invested.           They have done a remarkable job

         12  over the last 22 years.  The rangers have been in

         13  existence since 1979, the PEP came in 81.  Kevin, he

         14  served in both functions, as both a Ranger and a PEP

         15  Officer.  He was also with the mounted unit.  Kevin

         16  probably has the widest experience in this area.

         17                 We would love to see it expand.  This

         18  is why Battery Park City and Hudson River Park

         19  contracted with us.  Because it's the best service

         20  of its kind, and delivers the best value for the

         21  dollar.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Given the fact

         23  that due to budget constraints, we're not going to

         24  be able to expand on the PEP Officers, all the more

         25  need for our NYPD to work more, again, hand in- hand
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          2  with the Department of Parks and Recreation.

          3                 You know, my concern is, Central

          4  Park, in a class of its own, in a sense, with the

          5  police presence there, and rightfully so, we see

          6  other parks, Flushing Meadow, with over 1,200 acres

          7  and Van Cortland Park with 1,100 acres, you know,

          8  both over a thousand acres of land, each bordering

          9  three or four, actually two or three precincts.

         10                 My concern is obviously the larger

         11  parks, in a sense, for this purpose, at this moment,

         12  the larger parks and the security within those,

         13  given the limited number of PEP Officers, and again,

         14  what I feel the need for a better communication with

         15  the Police Department.  We have two large parks

         16  here. Do you foresee any maybe additional PEP

         17  Officers at these parks, the larger parks? Or, an

         18  increase in police presence there?

         19                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Well, if you go

         20  out there in February to a large park, you won't

         21  find very much presence.  If you go out in July,

         22  you'll find a lot of presence, and maybe

         23  Commissioner Cavanaugh and Commissioner Jeffrey can

         24  address that many of our parks really are seasonal

         25  in nature.  You go to Orchard Beach in January, you
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          2  won't find anybody there.  You go in July, you'll

          3  find lots of people.  The police have their own sub-

          4  station for Orchard Beach, which is fully staffed in

          5  the Summer, not in the Winter.

          6                 Similar kinds of things take place

          7  throughout the City, where we are -- I often compare

          8  the Parks Department to a farm, a lot of the things

          9  we do depend on the seasons.  So Kevin and Liam?

         10                 UNIDENTIFIED DEPUTY COMMISSIONER: For

         11  the larger parks and even the smaller parks, there's

         12  a phenomenal amount of coordination with NYPD.  So

         13  you mentioned Flushing Meadows, one of the things

         14  that happens with Flushing Meadows is with the large

         15  events.  There is always coordination with PD and

         16  PEP prior to the event, and in fact, in the planning

         17  stages. So that's an example of how we would

         18  continue to work with PD and make sure that there's

         19  adequate coverage there.  That happens in the larger

         20  parks.

         21                 You asked the question about

         22  patrolled priorities and deployments, and given our

         23  numbers, it is a challenge, but we always coordinate

         24  with PD.  One of the things that's happened

         25  recently, lower Manhattan there's been a coordinated

                                                            27

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  effort of PD and PEP Officers in the lower parks as

          3  a result of demonstrations and such.

          4                 UNIDENTIFIED DEPUTY COMMISSIONER:

          5  Council Member, you mentioned what could be

          6  perceived as a problem of multiple precincts

          7  surrounding a large park.  The police assign primary

          8  responsibility for large parks to one precinct when

          9  that situation occurs.  For example, Flushing Meadow

         10  is the responsibility of the 110th Precinct.

         11  Prospect Park is the responsibility of the 78th

         12  Precinct.  Bronx Park, which I mentioned, is the

         13  responsibility of the 52nd Precinct.  Crime that

         14  occurs on the border of those parks is the

         15  responsibility of the Precinct where that crime

         16  takes place, but within the park, one Precinct has

         17  responsibility, and I think that's pretty clear

         18  within the police command, and we're familiar with

         19  that as well.

         20                 There might be a legitimate question

         21  is the public familiar with that, but, I think the

         22  public when they account for a crime, they call nine

         23  one, and you know, the police dispatchers direct the

         24  quickest response to that crime.

         25                 To further discuss, it's true that we
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          2  don't have full data from the police department

          3  about crime within parks, and we're working, on a

          4  number of levels, to try to get more information.

          5                 But, for example, in Flushing Meadow

          6  Park, in discussions with the 110th Precinct

          7  Commander, you know, we know that last year in

          8  calendar year 2002, there were 21, what they call

          9  Index Crimes, that were recorded in Flushing Meadow

         10  Park, and that's in comparison with over 2,600

         11  crimes that took -- index crimes -- that took place

         12  within the 110th Precinct last year. So it's less

         13  than one percent of the crime that was recorded in

         14  those seven index categories, in the 100th Precinct,

         15  took place in Flushing Meadow, which is the biggest,

         16  and by far, the busiest park in Queens.

         17                 To further illustrate, you know, how

         18  we respond to need, our own enforcement officers,

         19  and yesterday we just had a Park Stat, which is, you

         20  know, a statistical review of park operations within

         21  a borough, and we did Queens yesterday, and we're

         22  looking at enforcement because that's one of the

         23  tools available to our supervisors and managers.

         24                 By far, the number of summonses and

         25  enforcement activities was by far and away in
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          2  Flushing Meadows Park much higher than any other

          3  area in Queens, simply because of the level of

          4  activity, the nature of the events, the kind of use

          5  that the park gets.  So, there is some, you know,

          6  basis to say that we are focusing on those large

          7  parks, and it's based on real needs.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Commissioners,

          9  I appreciate your testimony, and while I do

         10  appreciate the efforts being made during the events,

         11  when events are staged at these larger parks, those

         12  are isolated incidents, or events, and I'd like to

         13  speak about the park throughout the portion of the

         14  rest of the year, when there are not events.

         15                 We know, obviously, there are detail,

         16  there is certain detail when events occur at these

         17  parks.  I'd like to talk about when there are not

         18  events there, what kind of security is there.  We

         19  had mentioned earlier, that during the Winter

         20  months, which we are coming out of now, obviously,

         21  the colder weather, you know, the park is not as

         22  populated as they were.  I guess that really was the

         23  reason why we're having this hearing is because back

         24  in November '02 started almost what seemed to be, I

         25  hate to say a chain of events, but it just seemed
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          2  too frequent that we had in our larger parks,

          3  serious crimes, you know, rapes.

          4                 And, again during our Winter months

          5  when there are not a lot of people in the parks to

          6  watch what goes on there, and I guess, what possibly

          7  could have been seen as a lack of attention being

          8  paid to our parks during the Winter months.

          9                 We know they're safe in the Summer,

         10  we know they're safe when there's events going on

         11  there, but the question was during the Winter

         12  months, and that again raised the question and

         13  concern about the dialogue between the Parks

         14  Department and the NYPD.   At this point, we'll see

         15  if Council Member Peter Vallone has a question, I

         16  believe.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Thank you

         18  Mr. Chair.  Mr. Commissioner, first I would like to

         19  commend you for the work you've done in the last

         20  year, and it's been a pleasure working with you, and

         21  we've had many meetings, quite different than your

         22  predecessor. I won't say better or worse, but

         23  definitely quite different.  You testified that

         24  there are 164 PEP Officers, 72 of which are

         25  deployable.  That's less than half, what are the
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          2  other ones doing?

          3                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  As I mentioned,

          4  we provide contractual services to several entities.

          5    The two largest are Battery Park City Authority

          6  and the Hudson River Park Trust.  For whatever

          7  reasons, they thought that in establishing and

          8  paying for security with the separate funding that

          9  they receive, that rather than hiring a private

         10  security force, they should hire our Park

         11  Enforcement Patrol Officers, which is what they do.

         12                 So, we, essentially, are a contractor

         13  to those agencies provided PEP Officers.  Then,

         14  there are a few other parks which receive private

         15  funding, which again, subsidized the hiring of PEP

         16  Officers.  Finally, there are 21 Officers who are

         17  assigned to recreation centers, primarily in

         18  neighborhoods that are eligible for Community

         19  Development Block Grant Funding.  Those

         20  neighborhoods are defined by certain poverty levels.

         21    So, 21 PEP Officers are assigned to provide

         22  securities at rec centers that receive Federal

         23  Community Block Grant Funding.

         24                 So, it's a combination of quasi-

         25  governmental contracts and CD federal funding, with
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          2  a small amount of private funding paying for a few

          3  officers.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  That's a

          5  little bit confusing, let me get this straight, the

          6  Park's Enforcement Personnel are being used as

          7  private security --

          8                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Public security

          9  for public parks.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  For private

         11  security -- say that again.

         12                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  These are

         13  public parks, Hudson River Park and Battery Park are

         14  public parks.  Their funding source, however, is

         15  different.  The funding source comes from the income

         16  from the Battery Park City Development and from

         17  income and State and City funding that goes to

         18  Hudson River Park -- there's primarily income

         19  derived -- the Hudson River Park gets income from

         20  certain income- producing facilities, which then

         21  turns around and hires Parks Enforcement Patrol

         22  Officers.  They could just as easily hire State

         23  Police Officers, but they choose to hire City.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  But if they

         25  hired State Police Officers, we'd have more City
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          2  Officers to use --

          3                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  No, no, because

          4  it's their dollars.  It's not City dollars -- it's

          5  not City tax dollars.  The City Tax Levy doesn't

          6  fund these officers.  They're funded through outside

          7  streams of support.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Okay.

          9                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  So we have as

         10  many PEP Officers patrolling City parks as the City

         11  Tax Levy affords us.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Okay, let me

         13  move on then. You testified that the NYPD cannot

         14  focus, nor should it, on many of the problems we see

         15  in parks, particularly violations of rules and

         16  regulations.  This is where our PEP Officers come

         17  in, without our PEP Officers and Park Rangers, your

         18  park experience would suffer greatly.  And then, one

         19  breath later, you testified that there are 50

         20  officers in Manhattan, and only 14 in Queens.  So,

         21  there are only 14 Officers in the entire Borough of

         22  Queens, which includes Flushing Meadow, Astoria Park

         23  and many others, and without -- and they're the only

         24  ones enforcing regulations in Queens County?

         25                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Well, I

                                                            34

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  actually changed my testimony, I didn't like the

          3  testimony as it was written.  I don't believe that

          4  the -- I believe the -- you know, the Police, again,

          5  since there are so many more of them than there are

          6  of us.  There are whatever 36,000 police officers

          7  and should enforce quality of life regulations and

          8  should enforce Park Rules and Regulations and they

          9  do.  So, that written testimony -- what I said

         10  counts more than the written testimony.

         11                 Again, it's a problem -- it's an

         12  issue -- it's an issue of use.  Where are the people

         13  during the daytime, where are we getting the larger

         14  numbers of people, that's what we're responding to.

         15  That's why there are more in Manhattan.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  I have to

         17  beg to differ, if you drive by Flushing Meadow Park

         18  or Astoria Park in the Summertime, there is not an

         19  open space of land.  The park is being used as much

         20   -- these parks are being used as much as they can

         21  possibly be used, and to have 14 officers for an

         22  entire borough, I've got to object to that

         23  disbursement of police officers.  I'm sure the other

         24  boroughs have the same objections.  I,

         25  unfortunately, do need to run to another hearing,
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          2  I'm going to leave that complaint up to my able

          3  Queens colleagues, Gallagher --

          4                 UNIDENTIFIED DEPUTY COMMISSIONER:

          5  Councilman, if you give me a moment, I might be able

          6  to clarify.  When the Commissioner spoke about the

          7  50 Officers, he was including these contractual

          8  numbers.  If you take a look at Officers from City

          9  allocation, you'll find that there are 19 in

         10  Manhattan, 14 in Queens, so the number is not nearly

         11  as disparate, as it looks when you add the

         12  contractual Officers into the equation.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  All right,

         14  well that makes more sense that way.

         15                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Either way,

         16  it's a small number.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  It is a

         18  small number and as Council Member Gallagher points

         19  out, apparently Brooklyn has twice the amount that

         20  Queens has, and so I'll still leave that up to

         21  Dennis Gallagher to finish up.  Again, let me

         22  commend our Chair, unfortunately I do need to leave,

         23  and thank you for asking me to be a part of this

         24  hearing, and thank you for coming down and

         25  testifying today.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Thank you very

          3  much Council Member Vallone, Council Member

          4  Gallagher.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Thank you.

          6  Thank you Commissioner for your testimony today, I

          7  appreciate it.  But, maybe I will do a little

          8  follow- up on what Council Member Vallone said. When

          9  you look at the number of 28 in Brooklyn, and 14 in

         10  Queens, I mean, that seems to be quite a disparity

         11   -- twice the amount of --

         12                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  You know,

         13  again, we have correct numbers, so why don't we just

         14  say -- what are the correct numbers?

         15                 UNIDENTIFIED DEPUTY COMMISSIONER:

         16  Councilman, right now in Brooklyn, there are 15

         17  Officers

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Okay

         19                 UNIDENTIFIED DEPUTY COMMISSIONER:  On

         20  your City allocation, and there are additional

         21  officers under CD Funding.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Would you

         23   -- could you -- would you give us the breakdown.

         24                 UNIDENTIFIED DEPUTY COMMISSIONER:

         25  Sure
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: City- wide.

          3                 UNIDENTIFIED DEPUTY COMMISSIONER:

          4  We'll provide you with that. Want me to run across

          5  it right now?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Yes.

          7                 UNIDENTIFIED DEPUTY COMMISSIONER:

          8  Yes, on the allocations, you have eight officers in

          9  the Bronx, eight officers city allocation in the

         10  Bronx, and additional eight officers in CD

         11  allocation, those are assigned to the recreation

         12  centers, in Brooklyn there are 15 officers on the

         13  city allocation, with an additional eight CD, again

         14  it's a borough that has two CD- funded rec centers.

         15  In Manhattan, there are a total of 19 officers city

         16  allocation, in Queens there are 14 officers city

         17  allocation, Staten Island there are 13 officers city

         18  allocation, and then we have three officers that are

         19  part of a special patrol team, that serve each of

         20  the boroughs.

         21                 Now the numbers I provided you with

         22  are actives as of last week.  There are changing

         23  patrol priorities, and that will change seasonally,

         24  and that will also change based on City priorities

         25  enforcement.  I think I mentioned high use by parks
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          2  in Lower Manhattan over the last couple of weeks as

          3  a result of demonstrations and such.  There are

          4  times when we re- deploy City wide to address those

          5  issues.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Okay, I

          7  mean -- and I think ultimately -- I'm sure each of

          8  my colleagues -- if you look at eight for the Bronx,

          9  and certainly knowing the Bronx, there's a

         10  tremendous number of parks that could be utilized,

         11  and big parks too.  I think that the numbers are

         12  inadequate.  But, I'd like to take a another -- step

         13  in another direction, and talk a little bit about

         14  the finance aspect for Park Enforcement Police.  You

         15  issued- in your cert -- in your testimony

         16  Commissioner, you said that there were approximately

         17  an average of 6,000 summonses, ECB Summonses,

         18  including unleashed dogs, and you went through the

         19  litany of things.  So, if that's the case, how much

         20  money does an average Park Enforcement Police earn

         21  the City or issue in summonses per year?  And is

         22  there a correlation -- on the

         23  flip side of it, how much is the salary with fringe

         24  benefits needed for one Park Enforcement Police?

         25                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Okay, in
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          2  addition to the ECB's, we also give out PVB's, the

          3  Parking Violation Bureau Summonses for illegal

          4  parking, in and along side parks.  In calendar year

          5  2002, there -- let's say -- there are about 16,

          6  almost 17,000 thousand PVB Summonses, 230 criminal

          7  court summonses and 474 moving violations, total of

          8  about 23,000 summonses issued. We're probably down

          9  somewhat in terms of the number of summonses we've

         10  given out compared to the eighties.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Because

         12  I'm sure staffing is down.

         13                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Staffing is

         14  down, it could be that the numbers could go up,

         15  particularly in the PVB side, the ECB's are a little

         16  bit more difficult because you have to catch them in

         17  the act of committing the infraction.  The PVB, the

         18  car's either parked there or it's not.  So, it's --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  So is

         20  there an estimate of how much each Park Enforcement

         21  Police Person would earn the City, for lack of a

         22  better term, in one year?  Here's what I'm trying to

         23  get at, I mean, is it cost- effective for us to hire

         24  more Park Enforcement Police?

         25            COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  It could become cost
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          2  effective, we've served on some -- Commissioner Linn

          3  has run some scenarios whereby we could add more

          4  officers and push the numbers up just a little bit

          5  by each officer in terms of the summonses and almost

          6  make it pay for itself.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  They could

          8  almost pay for themselves?

          9                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Or, pretty much

         10  pay for itself --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  You have a

         12  copy of that study or survey that you could provide

         13   --

         14                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  It's just

         15  informal --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  To this

         17  Committee

         18                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  It's just

         19  pencils on paper some numbers, but we -- it's --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  I would be

         21  interested, I don't know about the Committee, in

         22  trying to take a look at those numbers, because let

         23  me state by saying I appreciate the efforts of the

         24  Park Enforcement Police.  I think that we should

         25  have more of them throughout the City of New York.
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          2  Some of the numbers that I'm hearing today, whether

          3  there numbers that we were provided with earlier, or

          4  the revised one, neither are good, in terms of what

          5  I believe.

          6                 I believe that there's a lot of

          7  incidents that there's not enough quality of life

          8  summonsing in our parks. Throughout this City, and

          9  in talking to my colleague, Peter Vallone, I know

         10  his community, he's concerned about it, I'm

         11  concerned about my community.  I have Forest Park

         12  and Juniper Valley Park, two big parks in my

         13  district.  I don't see much quality of life

         14  summonsing, and I think it's important that we try

         15  to get more park officers, and if they're cost-

         16  effective, and if it's not going to cost the City

         17  money, and maybe we'll have a net gain, then we'll

         18  actually make a profit on them --

         19                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  That's

         20  something we'd like to explore, of course, we have

         21  to speak with the Executive Branch, and it's a

         22  revenue initiate that OMB has to approve, but it's

         23  something we're just now starting to take a look at

         24  and see whether we can make the program essentially

         25  pay for itself.  On the other hand, you don't want
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          2  to turn the parks into places where people can't

          3  have fun.  So there's a --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  No,

          5  absolutely --

          6                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  So there's a

          7  tipping factor.               COUNCIL MEMBER

          8  GALLAGHER:  No, I understand that better than most,

          9  when it seems that they target middle class

         10  communities for all these summonses.  But if there's

         11  somebody who is causing a quality of life

         12  disturbance at a park and ruining the enjoyment for

         13  multiple people, then they should receive summonses

         14  and there's never any enforcement.

         15                 And, the same arguments that you're

         16  giving us about Manhattan based programs and events,

         17  are the same arguments that we get from the Police

         18  Department when it comes to staffing levels.

         19                 Many of the folks in the "outer

         20  boroughs" are having the same difficulties with

         21  police staffing levels and we're told that we don't

         22  have enough resources to do more enforcement or more

         23  patrols, or foot patrols in our parks, and that we

         24  should contact PEP.  So, it's kind of like a vicious

         25  circle, where the community is the one that loses.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  We understand

          3   -- I appreciate the frustration of not being able

          4  to get the PEP Officers there. I understand that.

          5  Moving the St. Patrick's Day Parade to Juniper

          6  Valley wouldn't solve the problem?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  I don't

          8  think so.  Thank you Commissioner.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Thank you

         10  Council Member Gallagher.  Just to echo that a

         11  little bit.  The fact is if we could get those

         12  numbers, I would greatly appreciate it, only because

         13  I think we may be on to something here.  Not to say

         14  that you can't go into a park without getting a

         15  summons, but if we do find out that it may be cost-

         16  effective for the City to hire additional -- we are

         17  talking additional jobs, and then we are talking

         18  possibly additional revenue. But more so than that,

         19  we are talking about an enforcement of quality of

         20  life issues, which I think for some maybe the bottom

         21  line is cleaner parks, or more crime prevention

         22  within our parks, which I don't think any of us can

         23  argue with.  So, that's something that we would

         24  definitely like to explore as well, go a little

         25  further with that.  If the Mayor could possibly
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          2  consider hiring additional Health Department

          3  Inspectors to enforce a smoking ban, okay, and

          4  enforce that quality of life issue, possibly the

          5  parks could look into hiring additional PEP Officers

          6  to enforce that quality- of- life issues within

          7  those parks.

          8                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  We'll look into

          9  it, because in addition to the summonses you

         10  actually issue, it's really the deterrent effect of

         11  a uniformed presence just makes people feel safer,

         12  better.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Bottom line,

         14  exactly right. Council Member Sarrano.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SERRANO:  Thank you

         16  Mr. Chairman. Commissioner, and I look forward to

         17  seeing you on Saturday, it should be a fun day,

         18  hopefully the weather will be good.

         19                 Forgive me if you've already

         20  addressed this, but you were talking about the PEP

         21  Officers being seasonal.  You won't see much of them

         22  in February, but you'll see them a lot in the

         23  Summer. What happens to them during the off- season?

         24    Are they reassigned to other assignments?

         25                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  I think I was
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          2  saying it's more a question of the police details.

          3  The police details in parks tend to be more

          4  seasonal.  We don't have that many seas onal PEP

          5  Officers.  We do hire seasonal PEP Officers for the

          6  swimming pools, to provide security at the swimming

          7  pools.  That's the primary seasonal hire for the PEP

          8  Officers, maybe one or two actually get onto the

          9  parks, but the number that we have to be out in the

         10  parks is pretty much the same throughout the year.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SERRANO:  And, also

         12  you mentioned that there's eight in the Bronx.

         13                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Eight plus

         14  there.                             COUNCIL MEMBER

         15  SERRANO:  How do you determine, and there's more in

         16  other boroughs, how do you determine how many are

         17  allocated to each borough.  Is it based upon acreage

         18  or crime statistics?

         19                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  It's not based

         20  upon acreage, because if it were based upon acreage,

         21  the Bronx would have more. The Bronx has beautiful

         22  parks, lovely, wooded, dark and deep.  But there are

         23  thousands of acres of woodlands with not a whole lot

         24  of use, particularly during the Winter.  That's the

         25  good news. The bad news is because the use is
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          2  relatively light, you have fewer officers assigned

          3  there.

          4                 It's really based on where are the

          5  complaints coming in, where the infractions are

          6  taking place.  I'd love to be able to say we have 50

          7  officers for the Bronx, and 50 for Queens, and so

          8  on, but that's not the reality.  The reality is we

          9  sort of -- we have sort of a skeleton staffing that

         10  we try to move around and deploy as needs merit.

         11                 So, for example, if we see a problem

         12  taking place in a Bronx park, of repeated incidents

         13  of whatever it may be, vandalism, gang activity, if

         14  it's more serious, we'll ask the police to handle

         15  it, if it's less serious, a quality- of- life issue,

         16  we'll move in a special detail of PEP Officers.

         17  Sometimes they're undercover, sometimes they're in

         18  uniform.  So, we tend to move these people -- so you

         19  don't really have a deployment for a specific

         20  borough.  We have no problem with moving people out

         21  of a borough, say Manhattan into the Bronx for a few

         22  weeks to address a special issue that's taking

         23  place.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SERRANO:  So it's

         25  mainly per incident, or by incident, that's how you
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          2  determine?

          3                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  It's really

          4  more of an art than a science, it's where are the

          5  incidents taking place, where is the heavy use,

          6  where are the complaints coming in, where are the

          7  events taking place that require additional

          8  policing.  The preponderance of big events that

          9  require us to watch over the parks and enforce park

         10  regulations, really, the beating is really in

         11  Manhattan, that's where the neighborhoods get --

         12  almost every day there's a new rally or

         13  demonstration taking place in Manhattan, and often

         14  they end up in parks.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SERRANO:  Thank you

         16  Commissioner, thank you Mr. Chairman.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Thank you

         18  Council Member Serrano.  Council Member Foster.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  Thank you.

         20  We've kind of gone through this, but I'm not

         21  understanding, so maybe you need to explain it

         22  again.  We have eight in the Bronx, 13 in Staten

         23  Island, and -- so I don't understand.  Again, you

         24  said it's not by acreage, what is the -- how did we

         25  figure out that Staten Island, the smallest borough
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          2  would need 13 and the Bronx, with the largest land

          3  of parks would need eight.

          4                 COMMISSIONER JEFFREY:  I may be able

          5  to bring some clarification to the deployments.  The

          6  first thing that happens, is twice a year we review

          7  the staffing patterns in each of the boroughs.

          8  That's based on feedback from, I guess, a multi-

          9  layered process of input.  The Borough Commissioners

         10  and the PEP Captains meet with Borough Commands once

         11  a year.  In addition, the PEP Captains meet with

         12  individual Precinct Commanders throughout the entire

         13  City.  Then we have enforcement initiatives that are

         14  developed, at times, on a City- wide basis.

         15                 So, twice a year there's a review,

         16  and in that review we try to, where we can, give it

         17  to the staffing level, addressed in equities.  So

         18  that's part of the process that goes into it.  We do

         19  take a look at volume of usership, so you take a

         20  park like Central Park that has a phenomenal amount

         21  of usership, more than any other park, and there is

         22  a decision made to deploy more officers to that

         23  park.

         24                 But we also take a look at

         25  enforcement issues as they occur.  So if, in fact,
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          2  there were a particular issue in the Bronx with

          3  graffiti or illegal vending, the first thing we

          4  would do is deploy our special patrol team, the

          5  three officers would go there, and if necessary, we

          6  would make a City- wide re- deployment.

          7            COMMISSIONER JEFFREY:  You might want to

          8  also comment that there's actually more in the Bronx

          9  than in Staten Island. We have in the CD fund and

         10  also that we have seasonal PEP's in the Bronx --

         11                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  That's a very

         12  good point.  The other thing just before Kevin

         13  continues on the deployments, Staten Island may be a

         14  small borough, population- wise, but I hate to break

         15  this to you, this is really bad for the Bronx,

         16  Staten Island has just passed the Bronx as the

         17  number one area -- number one in terms of acres of

         18  park lands.  I always used to say that Bronx is the

         19  borough of parks, we can still, we'll call it a tie

         20  for now, but statistically, Staten Island has just

         21  snuck ahead.  You want to go on with the rest of

         22  your point.

         23                 COMMISSIONER JEFFREY:  The numbers

         24  are challenging, and they're challenging for us as

         25  well. While there are eight Officers in the Bronx,
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          2  they're City- wide.  There's a whole contingent of

          3  officers that are two of the CD funded recreation

          4  centers, in addition to seasonally deployments of

          5  PEP Officers, based on the number of pools that are

          6  in the borough.  So, if you add that together, you

          7  end up with 16 Officers in the Bronx, across the

          8  board, but you end up with eight that are deployable

          9  throughout the borough, and of course, all the

         10  seasonals that cover the pools and Orchard Beach.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  Right. How do

         12   -- I'm sorry Council Member Gallagher left because

         13  I disagree with his statement in terms of the middle

         14  class and being hit with summonses.  How do you

         15  work, for example, Yankee Stadium is in Serrano's

         16  district, the parks that the Yankee fans come for

         17  their tailgate parties, to drink in, and leave their

         18  trash prior to getting to the Stadium are in my

         19  district.  Now, is this coordinated with the police?

         20    Because many times I literally call my CO from the

         21  44th to say, hey, because as I'm driving home I see

         22  this.  And, on the weekends, when a district like

         23  mine are like Mallolli (phonetic) Park, Saturday and

         24  Sunday are packed with birthday parties and it's

         25  very nice.
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          2                 The monitoring, I find, is more in

          3  terms of quality- of- life citations and violations,

          4  than I see when the Yankee fans are there.  I

          5  understand economics and there's direct correlation-

          6  Central Park has the largest use, yes, but it is

          7  also surrounded by the richest people in the City.

          8  So I understand economics and there is a

          9  correlation, whether we want to say it or not,

         10  between money and the type of services one gets.

         11                 So, with, for example, Yankee Stadium

         12  or the Universal Soul Circus that's going to be at

         13  the parking lot, is that coordinated with the Police

         14  Department, or I should say through the Police

         15  Department, or through the parks?

         16                 UNIDENTIFIED DEPUTY COMMISSIONER:

         17  There are several aspects to your questions, I hope

         18  I can answer all of them.  Yes, we coordinate with

         19  the police department for security around Yankee

         20  Stadium, and that includes the parking lots.  Most

         21  of the activity you described takes place in the

         22  parking lots, although there are games each year,

         23  when the stadium is sold out, where they have the

         24  right to use part of what used to be McClumestand

         25  (phonetic) and now I thinks it's Yancy Fields, and
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          2  it's the Babe Ruth Field in the north, actually the

          3  southeast corner of the park.  They're allowed to

          4  use it for overflow parking purposes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  Has that

          6  overflow parking need been coordinated with the

          7  little league teams that use the park?

          8                 The reason I ask that is because I

          9  have had my baseball team's games stopped in the

         10  middle of playing a game for overflow parking.  So

         11  if that's, in fact, the case, and we know this in

         12  advance, like we know when we play the Orioles, the

         13  Red Sox, there's certain games that are huge.  If we

         14  know that in advance, do we then communicate with

         15  the people who live in the community that use the

         16  parks, so that little kids aren't disrupted in a

         17  third inning of a little league game?

         18                 UNIDENTIFIED DEPUTY COMMISSIONER:

         19  You're absolutely right about that, we should give

         20  advance notice to all of the permit holders as soon

         21  as we're aware of that situation occurring, and I

         22  will speak to the Bronx permit office to make sure

         23  that happens.

         24                 UNIDENTIFIED DEPUTY COMMISSIONER:

         25  That kind of disruption of baseball schedules,
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          2  unfortunately, is not restricted to McClumestand, as

          3  these fields frequently with the big events that

          4  happen in Central Park and Prospect Park, we have to

          5  cancel all the permits for the ball fields for days

          6  at a time, so they can set up the stages.  It's one

          7  of the unfortunate realities of life. I think we get

          8  probably a lot more complaints in Central Park

          9  because that's where all the big concerts take place

         10  and we have to cancel. But, I think it's a

         11  reasonable request, if we know in advance that

         12  there's going to be a big sell- out game to, not

         13  just let them know, but try to find alternative

         14  fields.  That's the part too.  Work with the permit

         15  office and say this field won't be available, but we

         16  have some other fields that are.  A very good

         17  suggestion.

         18  Thanks.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  I was asking,

         20  the coordination with the police department for the

         21  big overflow games and would that also be the case

         22  with like the Universal Soul Circus that takes over

         23  the parking lot -- well I guess that's the parking

         24  lot, so it's not necessarily parks.

         25                 UNIDENTIFIED DEPUTY COMMISSIONER: It
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          2  is the parking lot, but we do coordinate with the

          3  police.  Any time we have an event of that

          4  magnitude, in any park in the City, we confer with

          5  both the local precinct and the borough command that

          6  is responsible for that area.  They have to provide

          7  security, they have to know of a large event that's

          8  taking place within a park, within the confines of

          9  any particular precinct. So, yes, we do.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  Okay, and so

         11  on Yankee games, be it overflow or, I mean, sold-

         12  out games or non- sold- out games, do you have a PEP

         13  Officer usually in place in like McCombs, Mallolli,

         14  because a park is far as 167th, and that's that

         15  whole new park.  There is a playground for the kids'

         16  school, the little soccer, things like that, now

         17  that gets packed with non- residents beginning their

         18  Yankees celebration or whatever, tailgating party.

         19  Do we have a PEP Officer allocated to those parks or

         20  that park during Yankee games?

         21                 UNIDENTIFIED DEPUTY COMMISSIONER: Yes

         22  we do have a PEP Patrol assigned to the stadium

         23  vicinity during Yankee games.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Council Member

         25  Foster, thank you.  Council Member Gerson.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Thank you Mr.

          3  Chair, thank you Commissioners, Commissioner Benepe,

          4  I somehow vaguely recollect the image of seeing you

          5  years ago in your Ranger hat --              COMMISSIONER

          6  BENEPE:  You were one of the school children on my

          7  tour.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  There you go,

          9  I will concur with that, probably leaving the tour,

         10  unfortunately.  Just a couple of points for just

         11  clarification information and then shifting ground a

         12  little bit, but, just kind of for the record, and I

         13  am correct in saying that if, hypothetically, the

         14  Hudson River Park Trust and the Battery Park

         15  Conservancy were to drop its contracts with parks

         16  for PEP Officers, hypothetically, not that I'm -- I

         17  mean I'm certainly not advocating that, but that

         18  would not open up any additional PEP slots for any

         19  other parks in the City, I mean, is that correct?

         20                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  No, in fact, it

         21  would hurt us because even though the officers are

         22  detailed to those areas, they're available to

         23  respond to emergencies that might happen across the

         24  street.  Not only that, but they represent a talent

         25  pool, and we rotate the officers around quite a bit,
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          2  so someone who starts out in Battery Park City would

          3  then move on to another assignment.  In an essence,

          4  it doubles our available pool of officers, and it

          5  makes for a richer and more complex organization.

          6                 As I said, if there's an emergency

          7  across the street, they're not going to say wait a

          8  second, you know, I'm only supposed to be in Battery

          9  Park, they'll go across the street and respond to

         10  that, but we do have a contractual relationship to

         11  keep within the parks.  We don't expect, quite to

         12  the contrary, we've just signed agreements, or about

         13  to sign agreements, with both to re- up, as it were.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  No, no, I

         15  certainly advocate that, and I'm glad to hear that

         16   --

         17                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  But it wouldn't

         18  free up -- the answer is it would not free up, it

         19  would, in fact, hurt us.  We would lose grounds if

         20  we lost those contract.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay, thank

         22  you for that important clarification.  I just want

         23  to cover one of the quality of life areas of special

         24  concern. I think to many of us, including myself,

         25  noise and excessive noise and improper amplification

                                                            57

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  from folks who do not have amplification permits,

          3  are PEP Officers directed and trained to take the

          4  initiative to, even without a specific complaint or

          5  request, if they stumble upon an excessive noise

          6  situation, to deal with that and put an end to that

          7  situation?

          8                 UNIDENTIFIED DEPUTY COMMISSIONER:

          9  Absolutely, you know, there are both violation codes

         10  of Administrative Law and Environmental Control

         11  Board Law.  The Parks Department also plays a

         12  coordinating role with NYPD in the awarding of

         13  permits for amplified sound.

         14                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: The sound

         15  permits mostly come from the Police Department.

         16                 UNIDENTIFIED DEPUTY COMMISSIONER:

         17  Right

         18                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  But if we have

         19  a repeating problem, we'll say, do not issue a

         20  permit, and if someone is using amplification

         21  without a permit, we'll take away the equipment.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  That was my

         23  next question, PEP Officers are trained and directed

         24  to confiscate equipment if there is no

         25  responsiveness?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  They confiscate

          3  a wide variety of things, such as bicycles, food

          4  carts, spray paint cans, the implements of

          5  infraction are often taken.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  That would

          7  include amplification equipment?

          8                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Yea, it's not

          9  as frequent, generally --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  That's my

         11  concern --

         12                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Generally, all

         13  we have to do is say, turn it down, and they turn it

         14  down.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  And then

         16  often, the Officer walks away and they turn it back

         17  up.  So, if the Officer were to come back on his

         18  second tour and see that happen or hear that happen,

         19  he could then confiscate the equipment, is that

         20  correct?

         21                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Yes, that's one

         22  of the things -- tactics the Officers can resort to,

         23  if they have to.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Now you

         25  mentioned the issuance of ECB summonses for noise,
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          2  most noise code violations require readings of sound

          3  level meters in order for a Peace Officer or Police

          4  Officer to issue a summons, that may or may not be a

          5  problem with the noise code, which we are

          6  addressing, and looking into.  But in the interim,

          7  are any of your PEP Officers at all trained to use

          8  or equipped with those sound level meters in

          9  situations or parks where this is a frequent

         10  problem?

         11                 UNIDENTIFIED DEPUTY COMMISSIONER:

         12  Yes, we do have officers, they're not only trained

         13  how to use them, but they're trained how to

         14  calibrate.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Good

         16                 UNIDENTIFIED DEPUTY COMMISSIONER:

         17  Normally we use that for large special events and

         18  not for your boom box, per say, we can just issue a

         19  summons, and if necessary, confiscate.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  There is a

         21  big in between though, the large special events and

         22  what you've described as boom boxes --

         23                 UNIDENTIFIED DEPUTY COMMISSIONER:

         24  You can issue a noise violation, both under

         25  Administrative Code and ECB, without a decibel
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          2  meter.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Think you

          4  could issue an Administrative Code, but not --

          5  depending on the source --

          6                 UNIDENTIFIED DEPUTY COMMISSIONER: I

          7   --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Not

          9  necessarily under ECB.

         10                 UNIDENTIFIED DEPUTY COMMISSIONER:

         11  You can not issue either.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Oh, okay.

         13  But would it be, if we have a park where there's a

         14  recurring problem, would it be that unreasonable for

         15  us to request that one of the officers trained in

         16  calibrated to use that equipment?

         17                 UNIDENTIFIED DEPUTY COMMISSIONER:

         18  Absolutely.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay.  All

         20  right, so hopefully we won't have to do, but if in

         21  the event that we need to, as Commissioner Benepe

         22  and others know this has been a recurrent problem in

         23  Washington Square Park, in my district.  But which

         24  is viewed as, people forget it's a neighborhood park

         25  and adjoining residential areas, but it's viewed for
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          2  as a place for all sorts of noise making at all

          3  sorts of hours.  I appreciate that information and

          4  that commitment.

          5                 I just want to conclude by endorsing,

          6  I think, the idea raised by my colleagues and

          7  yourself about looking into making the program cost-

          8  effective, in terms of the revenue it brings in.   Just

          9  for your information, we had a similar discussion in

         10  the context outside -- in the context outside of

         11  parks, where we looked into cost benefits from

         12  increasing the ability to issue summonses for

         13  quality- of- life.

         14                 We met with some experts, academic

         15  experts, so called, and they told us that it's a

         16  three year opportunity before you actually change

         17  conduct.  That is, the three years -- it takes three

         18  years to change conduct, and at the end of that

         19  three year period you can reap revenue.  So, if we

         20  could get that started, and hopefully in three

         21  years, we'll be out of this economic slump, we will

         22  have solved the quality- of- life problems and then

         23  be in a position where we can keep the increased

         24  force.  So, I would urge you to look into the

         25  suggestions of expanding I'll say with my with my
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          2  colleagues, the PEP Officers in all five boroughs.

          3                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  We'll look into

          4  it that, and also ask you to -- when we get the

          5  letters assailing us for being jack booted thugs and

          6  nazis, I'm sure you'll come to our defense.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  I think I

          8  already have.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Thank you

         10  Council Member Gerson.  Thank you very much.  I want

         11  to just, if we could go back to -- it's my

         12  understanding that the NYPD, for certain precincts,

         13  go around with Park Managers to tour different

         14  parks, is that correct?

         15                 UNIDENTIFIED DEPUTY COMMISSIONER:

         16  That happened with every Park Manager in the City.

         17  Every park manager --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  So, basically,

         19  every park got toured at least once in some form?

         20                 UNIDENTIFIED DEPUTY COMMISSIONER:

         21  Yes, I can't say they went every single of the

         22  fourteen hundred parks, but they went to every major

         23  park in the precinct, and any park that we

         24  identified as having some quality- of- life problem

         25  that we wanted the police to address.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  I'd like to see

          3  that, only because, again, it's a working

          4  partnership between the department and NYPD.  Is

          5  there a written report, were written reports made of

          6  these tours?  Were -- basically any type of report

          7  generated?

          8                 UNIDENTIFIED DEPUTY COMMISSIONER:  We

          9  summarized the conditions that we thought needed

         10  attention, in a spreadsheet document, that we

         11  submitted to the Chief of Department Office in the

         12  Police Department.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Okay.  Future

         14  criminal activity in these parks, are they going to

         15  be tracked differently because of these tours?

         16                 UNIDENTIFIED DEPUTY COMMISSIONER:  I

         17  think one of the benefits of these tours, is that

         18  there's a personal connection now between the

         19  Precinct Commander and our local Manager.  That goes

         20  a long way --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  That's great --

         22                 UNIDENTIFIED DEPUTY COMMISSIONER:  In

         23  getting business done.  When you can pick up the

         24  phone and the person on the other end know who you

         25  are and has a relationship with you, it really cuts
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          2  through a lot of the red tape, you know there's no

          3  way of getting around that.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  I think that's

          5  great.  I think -- something new?  Something that

          6  happened in the past?

          7                 UNIDENTIFIED DEPUTY COMMISSIONER:

          8  It's something new and it was Commissioner Benepe's

          9  initiative --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  That's great --

         11                 UNIDENTIFIED DEPUTY COMMISSIONER:  He

         12  went directly to Commissioner Kelly, asked for this

         13  to happen, and Commissioner Kelly sent out a Command

         14  Order to make sure it took place.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Well that's

         16  great.  As I said, that's something that the

         17  Committee wanted to see happen, at least, a better

         18  open dialogue or a better dialogue between the Parks

         19  Department and the Police Department.  Does the

         20  Parks Department, at all, track crime statistics in

         21  parks, or basically is it up to the NYPD?

         22                 UNIDENTIFIED DEPUTY COMMISSIONER:  We

         23  track the information that PEP records as a result,

         24  and it's primarily summonses and violations, and not

         25  crime, though there is crime that takes place and it
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          2  is recorded by PEP.  The Police Department, of

          3  course, records all crime that takes place in New

          4  York City, regardless of where it takes place, and

          5  they treat it all the same. That's sort of the

          6  beauty of COMPSTAT, it's driven by actual

          7  incidences, not by whose jurisdiction it falls

          8  under.

          9                 So, if there is crime in the park,

         10  it's being treated as seriously as if it's taken

         11  place on the subway or a housing project or a

         12  commercial development.  If there are trends showing

         13  up in parks, believe me, those Precinct Commanders

         14  are held to account for that.

         15                 There is a huge administrative and

         16  statistical burden in managing COMPSTAT.  We've been

         17  talking to the Police Department about trying to get

         18  that information on a regular basis, and it's a real

         19  challenge.  When you look at the volume of data that

         20  they're processing on a daily, weekly, monthly

         21  basis, and how important it is to their management

         22  of their organization, it's a tough thing to start

         23  selecting out park data.  We've tried in a couple of

         24  ways.

         25                 There was one officer who, sort of on
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          2  his own, started trying to track or key in that data

          3  in Northern Manhattan, and he shared that

          4  information with us and we thought it was very

          5  interesting.  But even he admitted it's not a

          6  thorough picture because you're relying on each

          7  individual officer to code, you know, their reports

          8  in a certain way, so that he could capture that

          9  information.

         10                 What we think, in the long term, will

         11  benefit both of our organizations, is using GIS

         12  Technology to sort of filter out from the police

         13  sort of methods of gathering and recording crime,

         14  things that happen on parks.  While, it's -- we've

         15  sort of had preliminary discussions about that with

         16  the police, in the long term, we think that's going

         17  to be the way to go, and it will benefit both

         18  organizations.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Just something

         20  I mentioned, Commissioner Cavanaugh, you mentioned,

         21  again, the PEP Officers and know a number of my

         22  colleagues were concerned about the numbers and the

         23  breakdown borough- wide.  I guess it's safe to say

         24  that these numbers shift periodically.  Correct?

         25  These are not written in stone, they do -- shifting
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          2  of these numbers on the average, happens when?

          3  Monthly?  I know they're deployed based by activity,

          4  but average- wise, when do these numbers shift?

          5                 UNIDENTIFIED DEPUTY COMMISSIONER:

          6  It's hard to give you an exact average, but they're

          7  reviewed and equities are addressed every six

          8  months.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Six months --

         10                 UNIDENTIFIED DEPUTY COMMISSIONER:

         11  There is a shift based on City- wide initiative.

         12  They shift seasonally, certainly prior to the pool

         13  and beach season, there's another shift in mid

         14  winter, particularly if it's cold, that's related to

         15  our concern of inland water bodies that freeze, ice

         16  safety.  So there are a number of factors that are

         17  given consideration when we set up the deployments.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  I just want to

         19  be clear on another point, if a crime happens in a

         20  park, that precinct that's allocated to that park --

         21  that crime is a statistic for that particular

         22  precinct, correct?

         23                 UNIDENTIFIED DEPUTY COMMISSIONER:

         24  Yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  And to your
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          2  knowledge, when they go and review the crimes at the

          3  COMPSTAT meetings, and they look at the precinct

          4  crime, do they discuss that crime, given that

          5  category, rape, assault battery?

          6                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Yes, the answer

          7  is yes they do, and I can base this on my experience

          8  as Borough Commissioner  CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  But

          9  do they speak about that particular crime in that

         10  particular park, or do they talk about that

         11  particular crime in that particular precinct?

         12                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  What they look

         13  for is -- COMPSTAT is all -- I don't want to speak

         14  for the police, but from my experience and my

         15  considerable discussions with the police, often I'll

         16  just stop and talk with police commanders about --

         17  you know, tell me about COMPSTAT, what are you

         18  looking at -- or they'll say I'm on my way to

         19  COMPSTAT, I have to go downtown, I'm reviewing my --

         20  they'll show me their maps.  They will show me a

         21  map, where they're detailing certain numbers of

         22  crimes taking place in very specific locations

         23  within parks.

         24                 For example, there was a park where a

         25  commanding officer said to me, I'm having trouble
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          2  with robberies in this section of the park, and it's

          3  a late night thing, and I believe that it's drug

          4  users are being preyed upon.  What I'd like to do is

          5  set an earlier curfew hour in this park and I'd like

          6  you to give me some signage (phonetic) at these

          7  specific entrances, and I'd like a little bit of

          8  additional lighting in this specific area.  So, in

          9  fact, the commanding officers are using COMPSTAT

         10  where the crimes are mapped in the parks as tools

         11  for very specific operations that they then engage

         12  in.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Again, they are

         14  mapped within our parks?

         15                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Yes, I have

         16  seen maps showing where crimes were taking place

         17  within specific parks, where they then come to us

         18  and say we need your help in addressing this, we're

         19  going to be doing an undercover operation, but we

         20  also want to get rid of the problem by, perhaps,

         21  establishing an earlier curfew in the park.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Commissioner,

         23  do you possible see a way that we can shift, again,

         24  you had mentioned that it's the Captain of the

         25  Precinct who initiates the discussion about the
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          2  crime happening in the park.  Can we get that

          3  shifted away from the Captain bringing it up of that

          4  particular precinct and having the discussion as an

          5  ordinary course of business of COMPSTAT?  My concern

          6  is --

          7            COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  The Captain is

          8  responding to COMPSTAT, he's responding to

          9  statistics, he or she I should say, because many of

         10  the Captains are women, their statistics are

         11  computer- generated, and they're put on maps, and

         12  they're given in various categories.  It's their job

         13   -- this is a management tool for the police

         14  departments, they have to respond to their

         15  statistics.  Occasionally, they'll come to us and

         16  say we see a trend developing --  often they won't

         17  come to us.  Often, they will just deal with the

         18  trend themselves and there is no problems. Sometimes

         19  if they need our help --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Commissioner,

         21  correct me if I'm wrong, the trend that they see is

         22  generated by the Captain of that precinct coming

         23  forward  --

         24                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  This, no, it's

         25  generated by COMPSTAT and the Captain has to respond
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          2  to the trends.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Right, can

          4  COMPSTAT itself, when they go over the different

          5  categories, can one of those categories be --

          6  instead of the captain initiating the discussion,

          7  one of the categories being crime in parks?

          8                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  I don't know,

          9  that's really a police issue, except to say this,

         10  based on our preliminary discussions and analysis,

         11  crime in park is so infrequent, as to not really

         12  show up, except as an aberration.  It's unusual to

         13  have a lot of crimes in a specific park.  As we

         14  said, we -- our two -- sort of -- looks at this,

         15  show us about a one percent of the index crimes

         16  taking place in two precincts we've looked at, are

         17  taking place in parks.

         18                 That would tend to say that while you

         19  could try to generate a lot of statistics and have

         20  them be park based, they might be somewhat

         21  meaningless.  I think it's -- there wouldn't be

         22  enough statistics to show a trend.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  I don't too

         24  pretty much mean our local playgrounds, those are

         25  well secured by our local precincts.  I tend to

                                                            72

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  think more about the larger parks.

          3                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  This is really

          4   -- Mr. Chairman I really think this is a police

          5  issue to respond to.  We have only tangential

          6  relationship to how police handle COMPSTAT, except

          7  to say that I'm impressed.  COMPSTATS provide a

          8  management tool that the Police Department never had

          9  before, and it's so good that we copied it, and we

         10  have PARKSTAT.  It really -- it's the single

         11  greatest innovation in crime fighting, as an

         12  outsider since the invention of the portable radio.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Pretty big

         14  invention. Council Member, I would like to welcome

         15  our colleague, Council Member Bill DeBlasio.

         16  Council Member DeBlasio has a question.

         17                 COMMISSIONER  BENEPE:  Council

         18  Member, I just -- to quote the immortal Groucho

         19  Marks, I have another meeting, so I'll take your

         20  question and say hello, I must be going.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO:  Very, very

         22  fine quote. You're adept at modern culture in many

         23  ways.  You'll understand the reference.  Thank you

         24  Chairman Addabbo and thank you for your leadership

         25  with this resolution.  This calms our concerns in a
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          2  lot of our communities.  I know you you're not the

          3  police, I want to -- on the other hand, I think you

          4  have the best perspective of anyone on what's going

          5  on in the parks, and I want to thank you for what

          6  you've done during your tenure.

          7                 Very simple point, I'm looking at

          8  Prospect Park as a particular example, a larger

          9  park, I think there's a deeper sense of insecurity

         10  in a larger park, there's more off the beaten path

         11  areas.  There's just a lot of ground to cover, I

         12  think the 78th Precinct does actually quite a good

         13  job of covering it to extend they can.  But, my

         14  concern is, I do sense a growing hesitancy in my

         15  community.  There's just been enough incidents in

         16  and around the park to cause hesitation and I

         17  certainly think there's the issue of the growing

         18  level of homelessness, which is starting to show up

         19  in some parks.

         20                 So, I just want to ask in a case like

         21  Prospect Park, in the very biggest parks, are there

         22  special coordination plans between the Parks

         23  Department and the numerous precincts surrounding

         24  the park to try and not let something get to be too

         25  much of a pattern, which really could discourage
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          2  park's usage.

          3                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  I will allow

          4  the two deputy commissioners to handle that,

          5  inasmuch as they both live in Brooklyn, and both

          6  know the park much better than I, and both have

          7  worked in the park.  Gentlemen.

          8                 UNIDENTIFIED DEPUTY COMMISSIONER:

          9  Yes, there is and will continue to be lots of

         10  coordination with the seven eight on Prospect Park.

         11  You mentioned issues of homelessness, and what we

         12  get concerned about is individuals setting up

         13  encampments in parks and we have daily patrols in

         14  all the large parks to see that doesn't happen.

         15                 We also have a pretty good

         16  communication mechanism between the Managers in

         17  Maintenance and Operation, not only in Prospect

         18  Park, but within all the districts.  You get very

         19  quick daily feedback whenever we see encampments

         20  getting set up. The curfew rules are enforced

         21  because nobody's allowed to be in parks between one

         22  and six, unless there's a particular playground,

         23  that's a dawn to dusk closing.

         24                 And to answer your question, we're

         25  very concerned about that.  We're concerned about
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          2  all the parks, particularly the flagships that get

          3  lots of use, and there's a lot of coordination to

          4  address those issues.

          5                 You mentioned something about

          6  perception and that may be perhaps the larger evil

          7  here.  One of the big concerns that we have with the

          8  perception is that if people stop coming to the

          9  parks, that would be the largest factor in making

         10  parks --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO:  It confirms

         12  the perception -- it confirms --

         13                 UNIDENTIFIED DEPUTY COMMISSIONER:

         14  You want to keep it safe.  The best way to keep it

         15  safe and make if safe, is not with PEP or PD, but

         16  it's the programming.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO:  Just one

         18  other quick point.  I do think, and I've had this

         19  conversation with the police in many different

         20  instances, not just parks, but I would strongly urge

         21  you to think this way.  That, when there is the kind

         22  of incident that captures imagination, for better or

         23  worse, that a sustained presence in the weeks

         24  thereafter -- a very visible presence -- really does

         25  help people to just calm down and get over it and
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          2  New Yorkers have a very high capacity to do that.

          3  But I've been troubled sometimes when there is an

          4  incident, it is the buzz in the community and you

          5  don't see any visible additional preventative

          6  measures.  I think that confirms people's fears a

          7  bit. And that's true, you know, parks personnel as

          8  well as police personnel can be a part of that in my

          9  view.

         10                 UNIDENTIFIED DEPUTY COMMISSIONER:

         11  No, I think we all agree with you.  Clearly

         12  understood.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO:  Thank you,

         14  thank you Mr. Chair.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Thank you

         16  Council Member Deblasio.

         17                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Mr. Chairman --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  I know --

         19                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  I must be

         20  going.

         21                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Once again,

         22  Commissioner, I appreciate your time and testimony,

         23  and again, I have to compliment you and your team,

         24  not only for being here and giving us your time, but

         25  also for the work that you do, given limited number
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          2  of resources, considering the amount of PEP Officers

          3  in the total acreage of park property.  It's a

          4  daunting task to obviously work with those numbers.

          5  But, to see an improved relationship between your

          6  department and the police department is promising,

          7  and I greatly appreciate your time and testimony and

          8  look forward to working with you in the future.

          9                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE:  Fine, and would

         10   -- feel free to keep asking questions -- I just --

         11  the experts are here anyway.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  I understand.

         13  Commissioner thank you.  If Council Member DeBlasio

         14  does not have any more questions, again, I

         15  appreciate your testimony and we'll be calling our

         16  next panel, but thank you very much Commissioners.

         17  Thank you.               Our next panelist will be

         18  Assistant Commissioner Susan Petito, from the NYPD,

         19  New York City Police Department. Commissioner, thank

         20  you very much for coming. Good to see you again.

         21  Once again, thank you very much for your time today.

         22    Just a couple --

         23                 COMMISSIONER PETITO:  I have no

         24  written testimony.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Just a couple
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          2  of questions.

          3                 COMMISSIONER PETITO:  Of course, and

          4  I, again, apologize for it being only myself here,

          5  but given the pressing needs of Operation Atlas

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Yes --

          7                 COMMISSIONER PETITO:  And the other

          8  things that the police department is doing --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Most

         10  understandable in these times --

         11                 COMMISSIONER PETITO:  I apologize --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Most

         13  understandable, and I, again, all the more reason I

         14  appreciate your time here today.

         15                 COMMISSIONER PETITO:  Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Obviously,

         17  you've been hearing the testimony, a major concern,

         18  the relationship between the Parks Department and

         19  the Police Department, increased dialogue, the

         20  tracking of crimes in, I'd like to say in our larger

         21  parks, but parks in general.

         22                 Maybe you can answer a question that

         23  the Parks Department didn't feel that they were in

         24  the position of answering. COMPSTAT, when each

         25  precinct comes about and goes over their crime
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          2  statistics, instead of the Captain of that precinct

          3  coming forward and saying I have a problem within my

          4  park areas, do you think there's a possibility that

          5  during COMPSTAT, the park -- a tracking of park

          6  crimes as a separate category can be established?

          7  If not for the Summer months, unless there's a

          8  trend, then most likely -- more importantly,

          9  possibly during the Winter months when parks become

         10  less populated and the likelihood or the possibility

         11  of increased crime happening in a more barren empty

         12  park exist?

         13                 Can you see a future where COMPSTAT

         14  can actually take a look at, as a separate category,

         15  park crimes?

         16                 COMMISSIONER PETITO:  Well, I don't

         17  envision it as a separate category for a couple of

         18  reasons. First, the way we capture crime data now,

         19  the incoming complaints, there's a check off box for

         20  whether it happens in a park or a playground, that

         21  is a check- off box, and unfortunately, that covers

         22  a lot more than just a regular City park.  That's

         23  federal parks, it's private playgrounds, it's co-

         24  ops that have courtyards with playgrounds in them.

         25  So, that wouldn't be a good way to cull down what
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          2  you're really looking for.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  I'm sorry, and

          4  that box is checked off by whom?

          5                 COMMISSIONER PETITO:  The police

          6  officer taking the complaint report.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Okay.

          8                 COMMISSIONER PETITO:  And that's

          9  really the only global indicator that we have in our

         10  complaints reporting system that will indicate

         11  whether it's a park.  Much more detail is contained

         12  in the description of the event.  Sometimes they can

         13  also list a location in a park, if there are

         14  landmarks or something that, especially if it's a

         15  larger park, where there are transverses or

         16  something like that, then they can pinpoint a

         17  location.  But, often, in the smaller parks, it's

         18  really the cross- streets of the entrance to the

         19  park or outside the park.

         20                 So, practically speaking, segmenting

         21  out parks as a COMPSTAT- driven stat doesn't appear

         22  to be realistic at this point. However, what I

         23  should talk about is what COMPSTAT is, COMPSTAT is a

         24  very fluid thing.  It's not -- just because

         25  something is a COMPSTAT category, does not mean that
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          2  it gets more attention than crime in general, or

          3  particular spikes in that precinct.

          4                 Given the fact that all crimes in

          5  that precinct -- all crimes in a park are

          6  attributed, general speaking, to one precinct, you

          7  will have collected all the crimes in that precinct

          8  within that precinct commander's knowledge.  So,

          9  what happens at COMPSTAT, COMPSTAT is a tool that

         10  really provides information about spikes and trends

         11  and patterns where particular crimes are committed.

         12                 So if a precinct commander sees that

         13  he's got a couple of robberies in one location, he's

         14  going to be questioned about that. Well, what are

         15  the circumstances of those robberies? The location

         16  could be the park, it could be inside the park, it

         17  could be the train station entrance outside the

         18  park.  So, he's going to have an intimate, detailed

         19  knowledge of all the crimes abutting the park, just

         20  as he has to have a detailed knowledge of the crime

         21  trends, no matter where the crime is committed.

         22                 So, that's why I think, and you know,

         23  given Commissioner Benepe was correct in saying that

         24  this is a relatively small number to make a separate

         25  COMPSTAT category, which does not mean that those
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          2  crimes don't get massive attention in COMPSTAT, they

          3  do, just not particularly because they occurred in

          4  the park.

          5                 Also, as precinct commanders get

          6  quality- of- life complaints now, it used to be

          7  through the quality- of- life hotline, now its

          8  through three one one.  They're addressing the

          9  quality of life conditions inside the parks that,

         10  again, and the broken windows theory could lead to

         11  losing control of the park and having higher level

         12  crimes being committed there.

         13                 So that, again, is looked at in

         14  COMPSTAT quality of life crimes, no matter where

         15  they occur.  If there are particular locations or

         16  particular spikes, those will also be a subject of

         17  COMPSTAT.

         18                 So, COMPSTAT isn't just the numbers,

         19  COMPSTAT is also the process of holding the

         20  commanders accountable to know where the crimes are

         21  in their precincts, and to address them in the right

         22  way.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  When -- in

         24  light of what you're saying, so when there is a

         25  trend seen in COMPSTAT, detail -- extra detail is
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          2  paid attention to in sending additional personnel to

          3  that particular area, possibly?

          4                 COMMISSIONER PETITO:  Yes, depending

          5  on what the problem is, sure.  The Commissioner

          6  mentioned structural things that one precinct

          7  commander asked for, liked better lighting or

          8  posting of signs and what not.

          9                 Precinct commanders have tremendous

         10  latitude in directing patrol into particular areas

         11  of a park, during particular tours where they see a

         12  problem emerging.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  And you would

         14  also say similarly, if there are trends starting

         15  with our parks, again, park crimes, in a sense,

         16  additional detail or attention will be paid to those

         17  parks as well, correct?

         18                 COMMISSIONER PETITO:  Absolutely.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Okay.  See, I

         20  think it's just the Committee's effort to try to be

         21  more preventive that reactionary, before a trend

         22  starts, if we can address the issue of crime in our

         23  parks.  I think we're talking about a period of

         24  time, I would guess, the crime statistics for our

         25  parks decreases during the Summer months because
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          2  there are so many eyes in our parks --

          3                 COMMISSIONER PETITO:  Well, there are

          4  a lot of eyes, but there are also a lot of people,

          5  so --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Right, exactly,

          7  but then --

          8                 COMMISSIONER PETITO:  It may cut both

          9  ways --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  See, then

         11  during the Winter months when our parks are more

         12  barren or more empty, that we become more preventive

         13  instead of reactionary.  We had a situation,

         14  starting in November  '02, you know, a rape in

         15  Lincoln Terrace Park in Brooklyn, a rape in Flushing

         16  Meadows Park, a rape in Prospect Park.  From

         17  November to January, in a course of a short period

         18  of time, serious crimes in these larger parks, that

         19  causes a concern for me.  In an effort to be

         20  preventive, instead of now we are tracking possibly

         21  these crimes in our larger parks and becoming

         22  reactionary to these three serious crimes in such a

         23  short period of time, I think there's a need for at

         24  least to discuss maybe not during the Summers

         25  months, but as we approach the Fall and the Winter
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          2  months, for seeing that the parks, the larger parks

          3  at least, empty, and again, the larger parks that

          4  have three or four precincts around each -- the

          5  bordering of the park.

          6                 I think it would lend to the

          7  precinct, as well as the Department of Parks to talk

          8  about it more frequently, to talk about possible

          9  crimes in our parks more frequently.

         10                 COMMISSIONER PETITO:  Well, I think

         11  that the contact is tremendous at this point and it

         12  has been increased as the, you know, parks personnel

         13   --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  I'm very happy

         15  to hear you say that.  In your opinion, it has been

         16  increased, improved?

         17                 COMMISSIONER PETITO:  Yes,

         18  absolutely.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  I'm very happy

         20  to hear that, the Park Managers and precincts have

         21  gone around touring the parks. I think that's a

         22  great initiative, and hopefully, from that will come

         23  certain information that can be helpful in the

         24  future.  Do you, and you can see a continuing of

         25  this relationship improving
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          2                 COMMISSIONER PETITO:  Oh, absolutely

          3   --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  In the

          5  immediate future?

          6                 COMMISSIONER PETITO:  Yes, I think

          7  it's a great movement towards getting more

          8  information, I mean that's what we thrive on.  We

          9  need information, and the parks, the PEP Officers

         10  are there on the ground.  The other thing is that

         11  the police officers are there too, but the PEP

         12  Officers, because they have a slightly different

         13  function, they may get different kinds of

         14  information than police officers will.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  In your

         16  professional opinion, to sort of supplement the

         17  great work that the NYPD does, we spoke a little bit

         18  earlier with the Commissioner about the possibility

         19  of hiring or considering or looking into the hiring

         20  of new PEP Officers to supplement the help of the

         21  NYPD. Do you consider that, at least to just even

         22  consider it a move in the right direction?

         23                 COMMISSIONER PETITO:  Well, I think

         24  more PEP Officers would certainly be better, but I

         25  would hesitate to take a position on what is a very
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          2  dicey budget issue at this time.                   CHAIRPERSON

          3  ADDABBO:  Yes, this is true, in light of all the

          4  money that we have in the City at this point.  I

          5  understand, of course.  Council Member DeBlasio.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO:  Thank you

          7  Mr. Chairman. Just a very quick point, just playing

          8  off this conversation, I think what I'm getting in

          9  my community, and I have all of Prospect Park in my

         10  district, is a sense of -- it's particularly around

         11  twilight, in the early evening, and it's

         12  particularly around the perimeter of the park and

         13  just inside the park, we're not talking about the

         14  middle of the park. You just don't see an employee

         15  presence, whether it's police, whether it's PEP,

         16  whether it's parks employees, it's the minute you

         17  get passed five o'clock, the level of presence

         18  shoots downward.  When you look at the little crime

         19  blotter in the local papers, the incidents are

         20  occurring, you know, seven o'clock, eight o'clock,

         21  sometimes later.  Right on the periphery of the

         22  park, so all I'm saying is that, and again, I feel

         23  very good about what our precinct is doing by and

         24  large, but I do think there needs to be just a

         25  little bit more emphasis on showing the flag.
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          2                 I think it's both an NYPD issue and a

          3  Parks Department issue around the times when people

          4  are going to be out there, but it's the times when

          5  the natural safety in numbers and the natural light

          6  situation just aren't as favorable.  For what it's

          7  worth.

          8                 COMMISSIONER PETITO:  Thank you.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO:  Thank you

         10  Mr. Chairman.                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:

         11  Thank you very much Council Member DeBlasio.  In

         12  your professional opinion, in these heightened

         13  awareness times, we are being aware of what's going

         14  on around us, both locally and globally, the idea of

         15  PEP Officers, and I don't know if this is a question

         16  for you or possibly from the Department of Parks and

         17  Recreation, the likelihood of PEP Officers,

         18  considering them possibly to carry a firearm, are

         19  they equipped, are they trained to do that, can they

         20  be equipped with firearms?

         21                 COMMISSIONER PETITO:  I think they

         22  would need special approval from our license

         23  division, in order to carry firearms, because I

         24  believe their Special Patrolman status does not

         25  automatically give them the ability to carry
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          2  firearms.  I think they would need a license, in

          3  essence, and so I'm not familiar with their

          4  training.  I don't know what kind of training they

          5  get now. If they were to be carrying firearms, they

          6  would need additional training.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Yes, because I

          8  know they have Peace Officer status.

          9                 COMMISSIONER PETITO:  Right.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Right.  But

         11  it's a question of if times got worse around here

         12  with, as I said our awareness for criminal activity,

         13  terrorist activity, would these Peace Officers

         14  possibly even be considered to carry firearms?  --

         15  Additional training?  Okay.  Commissioner Jeffrey

         16  thank you very much, additional training and

         17  possible, yes, a different status.  Okay. There

         18  being no other questions, Commissioner Petito, thank

         19  you very much for your time.

         20                 COMMISSIONER PETITO:  Thank you Mr.

         21  Chairman, thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  I greatly

         23  appreciate it. Thank you very much.  At this point,

         24  we will be calling up our next panel from the

         25  public, each panel is to be given two minutes to
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          2  give a statement, and obviously, answer any

          3  questions.  So I appreciate the Sergeant of Arms

          4  giving us two minutes for each. First panel is

          5  Thomas Testa from Local 983, Thomas step right up,

          6  and Joe Puleo from Local 983.  Gentlemen, would you

          7  please state your name and please give your

          8  testimony, and I need two minutes on the clock

          9  please.

         10                 JOSEPH PULEO:  My name is Joe Puleo,

         11  I'm Vice President of Local 983.  I'm a former PEP

         12  Officer and I represent the Urban Park Rangers.  I

         13  just want to say briefly that I think the real

         14  reason why we're here is that there aren't enough

         15  PEP Officers.

         16                 Okay, when I first started the job in

         17  the early nineties, we had approximately 40 PEP

         18  Officers per borough, which meant that you had round

         19  the clock coverage, and if you're noticing, most of

         20  these crimes are occurring in the later hours, you

         21  know the times when people are not, you know, where

         22  there is not that many -- that much visibility as

         23  far as police or PEP Officers.  I mean, when you

         24  have eight, you know eight PEP Officers in one

         25  specific location, between days off, sick days, and
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          2  reassignments to other locations, there's

          3  practically nobody in the park.

          4                 So, basically, you know a lot times

          5  the reason why these things are occurring is because

          6  there's no visibility.  I just want to go on and say

          7  that these PEP Officers make under $30,000 a year. I

          8  think that they peak at $30,000 a year at their

          9  height.  Of course, you know, the summonses that

         10  they issue, I think generate more money that what

         11  they cost, so hiring more PEP Officers would

         12  actually bring in revenue, as opposed to cost the

         13  City the taxpayer's money.

         14                 I noticed that City Councilman

         15  Gallagher had mentioned that, and yes, I think if

         16  you do the math, you'll see that PEP Officers will

         17  pay for themselves.  One other thing that the Union

         18  has spoken on before is that these officers are on a

         19  35 hour work week.  If they were placed on a 40 hour

         20  work week, that it would increase the coverage in

         21  the parks 14 percent.

         22                 You have these authorities, you have

         23  Battery Park City Authority, you have Hudson River,

         24  which fund these officers directly.  I mean, they

         25  see that there's a need for them, and I'm just sad
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          2  to see that the rest of the people in the City of

          3  New York do not have the same luxury, whereas, you

          4  know they have eight as opposed to 40 in one

          5  concentrated area.  Thank you.

          6                 THOMAS TESTA:  My name is Tom Testa.

          7  I'm with Local 983, I'm the Secretary/Treasurer.

          8  I'm also a former PEP Officer from the New York City

          9  Department of Parks and Recreation.  Like my

         10  associate, Joe, said, we do need more PEP Officers

         11  out there.

         12                 And like the lady before us stated

         13  that, from the Police Department, that a lot of

         14  times when we do go out into the public, we are the

         15  ambassadors to the parks -- patrons that are in the

         16  park.  We do go out and we do quality of life issues

         17  dealing with a lot of different situations where

         18  people are more apprehensive to talk to us before

         19  the Police Department because we do wear a different

         20  uniform and they do know that we're there to help

         21  them and work with them.

         22                 I can tell you, when I first came on

         23  the job almost 13 years ago, we use to be 24 hours a

         24  day, seven days a week. There were a lot of times

         25  that we had a lot of situations happen in individual
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          2  parks that we went out and addressed, and because we

          3  were out there, the public came to know who we were.

          4    We addressed everything from violations from ECB's

          5  that was spoken of before, moving, mover violations,

          6  criminal courts, basically, we supported ourselves

          7  on our own initiative by the summonses we issued.

          8  The City benefitted from the revenue we produced.

          9                 Like I said before, from the Union

         10  side of the house, we do represent them, we would

         11  like to see them on a 40 hour work week, because it

         12  would benefit the public, more time in the field,

         13  more time in the parks, and more time that the

         14  public would become to know us, and allow us to be

         15  there for them.  It's just a shame that during the

         16  Summertime they seem to be more out there because

         17  they do hire more.  In the Wintertime, they don't.

         18  That doesn't mean they're not there, there just

         19  there in lesser numbers and been relocated.  I would

         20  like to see more PEP Officers hired to benefit the

         21  City of New York.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Thank you very

         23  much Mr. Testa. You know, Mr. Puleo and Mr. Testa,

         24  you both mentioned presence and visibility, which I

         25  agree with you both, and there was a find point made
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          2  by Commissioner Benepe and the Parks Department

          3  Panel.

          4                 That is true, we'd love to hire

          5  additional ones, obviously we are in tough financial

          6  restraints right now in the City, bad fiscal times,

          7  possibly the worst ever, and I think that is why

          8  when you were a PEP Officer there were so many and

          9  the role was a much augmented role, and obviously

         10  the numbers were higher. We obviously have

         11  downgraded because of the fiscal situation and

         12  that's hopefully something we can plan now during,

         13  during the lean years.  Plan now for obviously when

         14  the City comes back to years of prosperity, we are

         15  in the position of possibly organizing better and

         16  hiring where we have to hire, hopefully the PEP

         17  Offices.  But, your testimony is well taken.  I

         18  appreciate your time today.

         19                 THOMAS TESTA: Thank you sir.

         20                 JOSEPH PULEO:  Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Thank you very

         22  much, thank you.  Our next panel will be Allison

         23  Farina from New Yorkers for Parks.

         24                 ALLISON FARINA:  Good afternoon.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Good afternoon
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          2  Allison.  You want to just hit the button.  There

          3  you go.

          4                 ALLISON FARINA:  Good afternoon, my

          5  name is Allison Farina and I am the Director of

          6  Government and Community Affairs at New Yorkers for

          7  Parks.  I'm here today to urge your support of

          8  Resolution 693, which calls upon the City to

          9  evaluate the safety of our parks and open spaces.

         10                 First, I'd like to thank you Chairman

         11  Addabbo for scheduling this hearing and for

         12  participating in New Yorkers for Parks January 13th

         13  press conference on this exact issue.  I also would

         14  like to thank the Department of Parks for their

         15  efforts regarding the nighttime patrols that we

         16  heard earlier.

         17                 In the wake of four brutal attacks on

         18  women in New York City parkland between October 2002

         19  and January 2003, Resolution 693 calls for the

         20  implementation of new strategies to address crime in

         21  parks.  The resolution creates a mandate for the

         22  City to analyze the DPR's Park Enforcement Patrol,

         23  PEP Program, and suggests a higher level of

         24  interagency collaboration between the DPR and the

         25  NYPD, by tracking and mapping crime in parks through
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          2  New York Police Department's COMPSTAT Program or

          3  database.  The passage of this resolution will

          4  ensure a safer environment for park users and

          5  increase the effectiveness of the DPR's park

          6  control. We're asking today that this information be

          7  made public.

          8                 The high- profile parks in Manhattan,

          9  including Bryant, Central, Battery and Madison

         10  Square, have a dedicated security and police

         11  presence that protects park users and public

         12  property.  As a result, these parks are some of the

         13  safest in the Country.  However, neighborhood parks

         14  at other Manhattan locations and in other boroughs

         15  have no dedicated security/police force.  In fact,

         16  as we heard today, according to the DPR, there are

         17  only seventy- two PEP officers to patrol the more

         18  than 28,000 acres of City parkland, amounting to one

         19  officer for every 390 park acres. Through tracking

         20  and mapping of crime in all New York City parks, we

         21  will ensure that each and every park, in every

         22  neighborhood has the enforcement patrol needed for

         23  its community.

         24                 We have some national comparisons

         25  here, New Yorkers for Parks has performed extensive
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          2  research into park safety programs nationwide and

          3  found that initiatives in Houston and LA provide

          4  excellent examples for New York City on how to

          5  increase park safety.

          6                 Let's take Houston, the Houston

          7  Police Department tracks crimes by type and

          8  location. When a crime is committed in a park,

          9  Houston tracks the crime and classifies the incident

         10  by location, noting if the crime occurred in a park

         11  recreation area, or zoo or swimming pool.  Such

         12  categorizing assists in tracking specific types of

         13  crime in parks and provides useful information for

         14  deterrence strategies.

         15                 Likewise, with the LAPD, they also

         16  employ interagency collaboration between police and

         17  parks departments, and they use a "Safe Parks"

         18  Program, where neighborhood parks in high crime

         19  areas are targeted for increased patrols, as well as

         20  physical and programmatic upgrades.  Park Rangers

         21  and LAPD Officers have linked their databases

         22  together and also hold regular joint meetings to

         23  target crime in parks.

         24                 Moreover, the LAPD has brought

         25  citizens into the process, and this is what part of
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          2  what we're asking today, their -- they've called it

          3   "Safe Parks Community Survey" Program, which is

          4  accessible via the website and enables anyone to

          5  register their opinions and concerns about safety in

          6  neighborhood parks.

          7                 In conclusion, New Yorkers for Parks

          8  makes the following recommendations, One, that we

          9  track and map crime in parks, as has been stated

         10  today, through the COMPSTAT Program, and that this

         11  information be made public.  We've heard a lot about

         12  COMPSTAT and that the NYPD -- the precinct

         13  commander's knowledge is pretty voluminous.  We're

         14  asking that this knowledge then be passed over to

         15  the Department of Parks and Recreation and also to

         16  the public.

         17                 Two, that we grow the Parks

         18  Enforcement Patrol or PEP Program into a farther-

         19  reaching security force.  Better trained and more

         20  numerous PEP Officer should serve as guides and

         21  experts to Police Officers on location in larger

         22  parks, as the Rangers do in State and National

         23  Parks.  Again, there's only 72 PEP Officers

         24  throughout the five boroughs, most of whom, it

         25  should be noted, only work until three o'clock in
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          2  the afternoon.

          3                 Third, if an increase in crime is

          4  shown, even after these two initiatives are under

          5  way, the City should seriously consider the

          6  establishment of a Parks Division within the Police

          7  Department.  This would unite both agencies in a

          8  much more coherent and closer working relationship.

          9  Similar consolidations have been made regarding our

         10  schools and subways, and that has resulted in a

         11  marked decrease in criminal activity.

         12                 Finally, the NYPD and DPR must

         13  collaborate to ensure that regardless of the City's

         14  financial and fiscal situation, the parks and

         15  recreations spaces will not slide back to the

         16  condition of the seventies, dilapidated and unsafe.

         17  Clean and well programmed parks help prevent crime,

         18  as we know, and when parks are well patrolled and

         19  well maintained, more people use them, making them

         20  safer and more accessible.  Positive activities

         21  deter drug dealing, graffiti and illicit behavior.

         22  In short, good parks make safe neighborhoods.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Thank you very

         24  much Allison. Allison, a question, does New Yorkers

         25  for Parks have any structure available to -- in
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          2  their opinion -- in the good work that you do for

          3  our parks, to look at parks, whether it be the

          4  condition- wise, or do you have an opinion on

          5  safety, do you have any structure in place, you have

          6  people going out to parks?

          7                 ALLISON FARINA:  Actually, we do.  In

          8  fact, every year, we put together a report card,

          9  which analyzes parks between one and 20 acres

         10  throughout the City, several hundred parks that is,

         11  and they're rated -- actually they're given letter

         12  grades as to how they're ranking and there's certain

         13  different qualifying measures that we use.  So --

         14  for instance, are the bathrooms open and clean, are

         15  the ball fields dirty or do they have grass, and go

         16  around and visit each and every park that's between

         17  one and twenty acres, and we are just about, right

         18  now, ready to publish, via our website, I think mid-

         19  April, April 15th.  This information is going to be

         20  available on the website, and this is what we're

         21  trying to foster here, is that, you know, if we

         22  could do the same for crime, if we could incorporate

         23  into our neighborhood park report cards, the crime

         24  stats, as well as just the physical conditions and

         25  maintenance stats that we have, that would be just
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          2  phenomenal.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Okay, and that

          4  information will be up on your website mid- April?

          5                 ALLISON FARINA:  Mid- April, I'm

          6  understanding April 15th.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Okay, Allison

          8  thank you very much.

          9                 ALLISON FARINA:  Thank you for your

         10  time --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Appreciate your

         12  testimony. Thank you.  Our next panel and our last

         13  panel, I understand, Joseph G. Garber, for the Civil

         14  Service Merit Counsel and Civic Leader, and Mitchell

         15  Balmuth, for himself, an artist.

         16                 JOSEPH GARBER:  Good afternoon Chair

         17  Abbaddo, my name is Joseph Garber.  I'm a Civil

         18  Leader, as well the Corresponding Secretary for the

         19  Civil Service Merit Council.  First of all, I'm

         20  going to speak very quickly to try to get everything

         21  in two minutes, however, I'd like to say I'm going

         22  take exception why you reduced it from three minutes

         23  to two minutes.  This is definitely wrong.

         24                 I question Commissioner Benepe's

         25  statement that members of the NYPD, lock the gates
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          2  in some parks.  I would suggest that your Committee

          3  ask for a listing where this occurs, and monitor the

          4  actual act.

          5                 Number two, how many full duty PEP

          6  Officers and Park Rangers are engaged in no patrol

          7  duties, but are engaged in tasks that could be

          8  civilianized if those tasks are necessary.  On page

          9  two of Commissioner Benepe's testimony, it states

         10  that out of 164 PEP Officers, only 72 are available,

         11  where are the other 92?

         12                 Years ago, in the New York City

         13  Police Department, there was a specific unit called

         14  the Parks Department Liaison Unit that was in

         15  Flushing Meadow Park, headed by Deputy Inspector

         16  Milton Zarchin (phonetic).  To my knowledge, at this

         17  moment, there's no specific independent liaison unit

         18  in the Police Department to deal with DPR.

         19                 In addition, I question whether the

         20  presently existing Police Commissioner's Liaison

         21  Unit and the Deputy Commissioner of Community

         22  Affairs does any liaison with  DPR. I would suggest

         23  that this Committee conduct a random sampling of

         24  precinct commanders to see if they have knowledge of

         25  the parks in their precincts and the conditions
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          2  existing thereof.  I'd like to suggest that this

          3  Committee contact the COMPSTAT unit of the chief of

          4  the department and the Management Information

          5  Systems Division of the New York City Police

          6  Department to determine, to see if the COMPSTAT

          7  database program could be reprogrammed to surface

          8  specifically crime statistics in parks separately.

          9  Since the New York City Police Department isn't big

         10  on mergers and acquisitions, as Ms. Farina just

         11  stated, I would suggest also that perhaps the PEP

         12  police could be merged into the New York City Police

         13  Department.

         14                 I would suggest that this Committee

         15  should foil from the New York City Police Department

         16  detail orders relative to events occurring in parks,

         17  and copies of personal orders from the personal

         18  orders section relative to temporary assignments of

         19  uniformed members of the service and parks for

         20  Summer details. Thank you for listening.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Almost within

         22  two minutes --

         23                 JOSEPH GARBER:  Okay --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Mr. Garber,

         25  almost. Thank you very much.  Mr. Balmuth.
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          2                 MITCHELL BALMUTH:  He was fast.

          3                 JOSEPH GARBER:  Yes, well --

          4                 MITCHELL BALMUTH:  I don't think that

          5  I could be that fast, first of all, I want to thank

          6  Commissioner Benepe for not mentioning the word

          7  artist or art vendors as being a major safety

          8  problem in the parks, because we're not.  That's the

          9  first thing.

         10                 Second thing that I want to mention

         11  is that I am, I think, on the same level -- I'm for

         12  this resolution, I think we need to look into the

         13  use of parks enforcement in the parks, and I'll give

         14  you a prime example.  In 1988, at a protest that was

         15  politically motivated by the Guiliani

         16  Administration, this was the average number of parks

         17  enforcement people that were at a protest, and I'm

         18  entering this as evidence.  They had five cars and

         19  at least ten officers at the protest every day on a

         20  permit that they knew was illegal and was against

         21  the former court ruling.  I would much rather the

         22  parks enforcement people be in the parks, checking

         23  for safety and checking for real crimes and whatnot.

         24                 Now, I'll make the same offer that

         25  I've made to the Central Park Medical Unit, which
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          2  I've done four times by e- mail, and I'm gonna (sic)

          3  to make it to parks enforcement right now, is any

          4  time they want to sit down with the group artists or

          5  myself, or any member of the group artists, to sit

          6  down and talk about safety issues that art vendors

          7  or artists are causing, we will gladly sit down with

          8  them and take care of that.

          9                 Now, the Parks Department, at the 160

         10  Hearing, said that we had a confrontational

         11  advocacy.  Let me explain that to you one time.  I

         12  will be confrontational when they violate our

         13  rights. Just twice in the past week, the parks

         14  enforcement --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Would you just

         16  limit it to, you now, park enforcement --

         17                 MITCHELL BALMUTH:  This is about park

         18   -- parks enforcement came down and harassed art

         19  vendors, including issuing illegal summonses to them

         20  for false complaints made by -- I don't know who the

         21  first complaint was made by.  And the second

         22  complaint was made by a maintenance person -- when

         23  these art vendors -- it took at least three officers

         24  and one free -- what do you call it -- three Parks

         25  Enforcement Officers in one case where they issued
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          2  like seven false tickets and then they took two more

          3  officers and made artists move from areas where they

          4  were legally allowed to sell.

          5                 This is the type of thing I want to

          6  avoid, parks enforcement can be used at a very

          7  efficient manner and I will not be confrontational

          8  if they take care of things like I mentioned before

          9  to you, violations that they could actually make

         10  money from. I'm not gonna (sic) go there and harass

         11  any Parks Enforcement Officer or if they're doing

         12  their job properly. So, I think with proper training

         13  and proper working with community groups, including

         14  the artists around the park, we can make their job

         15  easier and of course, I think there should be more

         16  parks enforcement.

         17                 I love the parks, I met my wife in

         18  Central Park 36 years ago, I got arrested with her

         19  five years ago in Central Park, and I love Central

         20  Park.  I'm even willing to work with them.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Thank you very

         22  much gentlemen for your time and testimony.  I'm

         23  happy to see that the relationship between the parks

         24  and the NYPD has improved and the dialogue has

         25  improved, and this Committee will continue to
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          2  monitor that situation and the tracking of our parks

          3  and crime statistics.

          4                 Our next hearing for the Department

          5  of Parks and Recreation Committee will be on April

          6  14th, but we will look into concessions and sources

          7  of revenue for our Department of Parks and

          8  Recreations.  We will also have a vote on Resolution

          9  693, which has to do with obviously the discussions

         10  between the Police Department and the Parks

         11  Department.

         12                 Once again everyone, thank you very

         13  much, I'd like to thank the Administration for their

         14  testimony today and I'd like to thank the public for

         15  appearing as well, for their time and testimony,

         16  thanking the Sergeant of Arms, Frank Neely, Tom

         17  Curry, Chima Obichere.  Thank you very much

         18  everyone, have a great day. Meeting adjourned.

         19                 (Following written testimony was read

         20  into the record)

         21  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         22  BETSY GOTBAUM

         23  THE PUBLIC ADVOCATE FOR THE CITY OF NEW YORK

         24                 Thank you Chairman Addabbo for

         25  allowing me to speak here this afternoon.  As a
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          2  former Parks Commissioner, I know that New York

          3  City's parks and open spaces are critical to our

          4  daily life and the vibrancy of our city.  These

          5  areas provide New York's urban dweller a place to

          6  enjoy the natural beauty of the City's outdoor

          7  space.

          8                 Now, as the temperature begins to

          9  rise, more and more New Yorkers will go to their

         10  local parks to enjoy the spring and summer weather.

         11  Indeed, during this time of year, public parks

         12  become one of the centers of community life.

         13                 While parks and open spaces offer us

         14  countless benefits, as unfortunate reality is that

         15  these areas are often grounds for criminal activity.

         16    The Parks Enforcement Patrol holds a very

         17  important role in maintaining safety in the city's

         18  parks and open spaces.  While all New Yorkers can

         19  attest to the quality of life improvements made in

         20  parks over the years, I cannot overstate the crucial

         21  need to continue to improve security and police

         22  patrol.

         23                 I share the committee's concern over

         24  safety in parks.  I would like to further express my

         25  concern over the particular vulnerability of women
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          2  in parks.  As you all know, at the end of last year,

          3  there were unfortunate incidents of sexual assaults

          4  at parks in Queens and Brooklyn.  These assaults

          5  defined common myth that women are completely safe

          6  when in the company of a friend.

          7                 The woman raped in Flushing Meadow

          8  Park and the woman attacked at Lincoln Terrace Park

          9  in Brooklyn both were attached despite the presence

         10  of a male companion.  The most effective way for the

         11  city to prevent sexual assault in parks and

         12  elsewhere is through vigilant police patrol and

         13  special attention to combating this type of crime.

         14                 These incidents serve as a terrible

         15  reminder that although overall crime in our City has

         16  dramatically declined, reports of sexual assault to

         17  the Police Department increased five percent between

         18  December 2001 and December 2002, and sexual assault

         19  has continued to increase at an even faster pace

         20  this year.

         21                 The Police Department's revamped Sex

         22  Crimes unit should be especially aware of the

         23  potential for crimes in parks and implement

         24  strategies to stop them before the sick individuals

         25  who prey on women and girls have an opportunity to
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          2  carry out their crimes.

          3                 I would also like the Parks

          4  Department to consider sharing crime statistics that

          5  they record publicly, as they used to do on the

          6  department's website.

          7                 I applaud this City Council Committee

          8  on Parks and Recreation's efforts to initiate

          9  inquiry into safety in parks and open spaces. We

         10  must all remain vigilant to protect the safety of

         11  innocent New Yorkers.  Thank you.

         12                 (Hearing concluded at 2:05 p.m.)
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          9            I, CHERYL MILLER, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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